# "This job saved me":

## The Subjectivity and Imaginary of Cluj IT

by

Emőke Gondos

Submitted to Central European University

Department of Sociology and Social Anthropology

In partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Arts in Sociology and Social Anthropology

Supervisor: Violetta Zentai

Second reader: Johanna Markkula

Vienna, Austria

#### **Abstract**

The post-socialist cities are excellent targets for digital services outsourcing since they can provide cheap labor without great cultural and geographical distance from Western European companies. The municipality of Cluj-Napoca, Romania, has been tapping into this fact, building an image of a European and 'smart' city to be attractive for foreign direct investment. The IT sector is thus made into the poster child of both the country's and the city's government. The average wage of a person working in the IT service sector in Romania is twice as much as the national average wage, making the industry rank the highest in the country ('Câștigul Salarial Mediu Lunar' 2022). Represented by 22 thousand people (Petrovici and Mare 2020, 51), the IT sector of Cluj-Napoca is especially large and dominant, both from an economic and a social point of view. Through presenting my empirical material collected by conducting semi-structured life-history interviews with professional converts to IT, I show the imaginary that is driving a flow of highly educated professionals towards changing their careers to IT. In my thesis, I argue that technological solutionism (Morozov 2013), zombie socialism (Chelcea and Druţă 2016), and the myth of the middle class (Weiss 2019) are together creating the 'myth of IT', which is forming neoliberal subjectivities and depoliticizing collective struggles.

#### Acknowledgments

To my supervisors, Violetta Zentai and Johanna Markkula, for their enthusiasm, encouragement, insights, and warm guidance. They had an excellent sense of what type of feedback I needed and when.

To my interlocutors, who were so kind to sacrifice some of their time and share their experiences and thoughts with me.

To Réka, Leon and Kirsten, and all my old and new friends in Cluj and in Vienna, who provided perspective, emotional support, distraction, or whatever I needed in times of feeling overwhelmed (which happened a lot). And of course, for being simply great.

To everyone at CEU who had confusing questions, intriguing comments or excited reassuring faces when I talked about my topic.

To my family for their unconditional support.

# Table of Contents

Abstract	ii
Acknowledgments	iii
Introduction	1
Methodology and motivation	4
Chapter One: Neoliberal techno-fantasies in a post-socialist city	7
A bit of (Romanian) neoliberalism	8
IT – myth and reality	12
The post-socialist Silicon Valley	15
Forming imagination	21
Chapter Two: Work, career, and subjectivity	23
"Bezzeg the IT-ists"	23
Nurturing a neoliberal subjectivity	25
The hegemony of having fun at work	31
The hacker ethic – outsourced	33
Chapter Three: Towards the "good life"	36
The myth of the middle class	37
Social and economic remittances	40
"Central-Eastern Europe is not ready for this"	41
Flexible stability– and when will the "bubble burst"	44
Conclusion	49
Bibliography	53

Figure 1: Instagram post of a Hungarian IT school based in Cluj.	. 23
Figure 2: Instagram post of one of the biggest IT schools in Romania	. 36

#### Introduction

Social reality is more than the objective, material reality. It contains people's perception of this very reality as well, as a constitutive element to it. Thus, sociology must also deal with "a sociology of construction of visions of the world" (Bourdieu 1989, 18). Having lived for six years in Cluj, "the Silicon Valley of Eastern Europe," I couldn't help but realize that my own "vision of the world" has been narrowed down. Witnessing the closing down of multiple independent cultural venues while more and more IT offices are being built, and having everyday conversations about how all of my friends both despise and envy IT specialists for their stable, well-paying jobs which allow them to pay the skyrocketing prices of rent, I caught my own imagination about my own future change. I can try following my aspirations, but if all else fails, I can always become an IT-ist.

The average wage of a person working in the IT service sector in Romania is twice as much as the national average wage, making the industry rank the highest in the country ('Câştigul Salarial Mediu Lunar' 2022). Represented by 22 thousand people (Petrovici and Mare 2020, 51), the IT sector of Cluj-Napoca (hereafter, Cluj) is especially large and dominant, both from an economic and a social point of view. This has been expressed by many, ironically or non-ironically, referring to the city as the "Silicon Valley of Eastern Europe" (e. g. Hosu and Hosu 2019; McElroy 2020; Birtalan 2021; Zamfir 2022), even though it is, in fact, mostly providing outsourced services to Western companies (Mateescu 2022). Due to this, there is a public fascination with Cluj and its IT sector (Guga and Spatari 2021), being framed as a leader in terms of contemporary working practices, work ethics, and an overall new – allegedly 'European', increasingly neoliberal – view of work and life (Troc 2019; Birtalan 2021; Petrovici and Deneva-Faje 2020).

While there have been numerous ethnographic works produced about digital labor in the semi-periphery, especially in and from India (Amrute 2016; Aneesh 2006; Irani 2019; Upadhya 2016; Vora 2015), but also from Mexico (Beltrán 2020), there has not been much work done about the sector's relevance in the post-socialist block. In the Romanian context, Oana Mateescu and Erin McElroy conducted ethnographic research about the IT sector of Cluj. While Mateescu shines light on the appropriation of creativity by the innovation-centered IT discourse and the precariousness of IT service workers (Mateescu 2022), McElroy tackles the socioeconomic inequalities present in the city that are reinforced by the arrival of a digital elite (McElroy 2020). However, neither of them discusses the relationship between the discursive production of the sector and post-socialist ideologies. In this thesis, I aim to fill that gap.

As any post-socialist city transitioning from a post-industrial to a service-based economy, Cluj has intensively privatized and repurposed its infrastructure. At the same time, its labor force is getting refashioned as well (Mateescu 2022). The IT sector is continuously growing and attracting labor (Ionescu-Heroiu et al. 2013). It even started developing its very own 'informal' educational system (Buta 2017), while at the same time, there are also numerous people learning to code at home, on their own, as well as people starting a tech support job without any prior targeted knowledge. However, the sector is more than just a provider of well-paying entry-level jobs and an attractor of foreign capital. It has a status of facilitator of social ascension and of importer of European ideas. How is this image created? How does it affect people's career choices? What drives people towards professional reorientation to IT? What assumptions do they share about the field, and how are those assumptions constructed? What is the imaginary that makes people take on the risky and arduous road of re-professionalization, and how are they transformed in the process? To answer these questions, I will present my empirical findings and provide relevant concepts from the literature to build my argument.

In Chapter One, I will examine the discourse around the IT sector in the Romanian public and specifically in Cluj. I embed the phenomenon of professional reconversion<sup>1</sup> to IT into the context of Romanian neoliberalism and the local 'smart city neoliberalism' that drives the municipality's governance. I discuss the relevance of transnational migration in the country's political economy, and the insights it provides for understanding professional reorientation. Then I unpack the anti-communist ideology specific to post-socialist societies and its resulting preference for radical neoliberal doctrines. I also introduce the 'myth of the middle class' that is mobilized in constructing the image of the IT sector. Finally, I summarize what is unique about IT in Cluj and set the stage for my empirical analysis unfolding in the following chapters.

In Chapter Two, I show how in order to arrive at the high wages promised by professional reconversion to IT, a self-development doctrine has to be internalized. While workers choose their new professions by their free will, the workers themselves are also being created by their workplaces (Willis 1981) and thus the jobs available in the labor market. This facet of neoliberal subjectivity is endorsed by the hacker ethic associated with coding work but problematized by outsourcing labor relations. Here I argue that even if this subjectivity is hegemonic, there is space for one to distance oneself.

In my third and final chapter, I elaborate on the 'myth of the middle class' and how it is used for catering to, and generating a consumption imaginary attached to the idea of work in IT. I also tackle the ambiguous flexible stability that my interlocutors seek in their new profession and its associated lifestyle. Finally, I argue that my interlocutors share a consciousness of their positionality in the global value chain of outsourced digital labor, and

<sup>1</sup> 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> In my thesis, I interchangeably use the terms 'professional reconversion' (Mateescu 2022), 'professional reorientation', and 're-professionalization', all referring to occupational mobility from non-IT positions to jobs in the sector.

that this reinforces the 'catching up' ideology, facilitating the appropriation of neoliberal subjectivities.

I aim to show that it is a facet of neoliberal governance to overemphasize the importance of the IT sector in providing well-paying jobs, as a way to outsource social functions onto the market. Creating an illusion of social mobility reinforces the myth of meritocracy and individualizes the struggle for a decent life. At the same time, through this individual quest for professional reconversion, neoliberal subjects learn that they have to reinvest in themselves continuously: keep learning and seeking the next step in their 'boundaryless career' (Greenhaus, Callanan, and DiRenzo 2008).

#### Methodology and motivation

In April of 2023, I spent three and a half weeks in Cluj. It fills me with ambiguous sentiments to call this fieldwork, partially because of the lack of time and partially because I was returning to a place I used to call home for six years. As every anthropologist researching at home, I had to face the ambiguity of having valuable insight from a non-research context while also having biases that are difficult to identify thoroughly. Witnessing the slow depletion of the city's cultural scene and seeing people around me one by one give up on their dreams and turn to a job in IT left me with many of questions — and a problematic moralizing perspective. Wanting to understand the larger processes that I saw unfolding on a small scale drove me to try and deconstruct my own assumptions. This is why, first and foremost, I wanted to talk with people who went through this process. I chose to reach out to professional converts because their unique positionality allows me to grasp the imaginary surrounding IT 'in action.' I wanted to understand what keeps the flow of people turning to IT in motion and what are the experiences of those who successfully made the move.

Partially through mobilizing my connections in the city and partially by contacting workers on Linkedin, I ended up talking to 19 interlocutors. The criteria for contacting them

were: first, to have a degree or having studied in a non-related field prior to occupying a technical position in an IT company,<sup>2</sup> and second, to have some connection to Cluj, either by having lived there, living there currently, or working remotely for a company based in Cluj. I conducted my interviews either on-site in Cluj or online, depending on my interlocutors' the availability and preference – some living in different parts of the country, some preferring the comfort of their home and the familiarity of a Zoom call.<sup>3</sup> Eleven of my interlocutors are male, and eight are female.<sup>4</sup> Six are Romanian native speakers, and thirteen are ethnic Hungarians.<sup>5</sup> They are aged between 26 and 43, with most (ten people) aged between 30 and 33. Fourteen of them live in Cluj, and five live in another city or the countryside. One interlocutor has a non-technical job, all the others are currently in technical positions, working either as software testers, software developers, web developers, DevOps engineers, or in tech support positions. To protect their identity, I gave them pseudonyms, eliminated the names of the companies they work for and all other information that might lead to identifying them.

By conducting semi-structured in-depth life-history interviews, I aimed to get an understanding of my interlocutors' professional and educational background, their class positionality and original aspirations, as well as their narrative of why they pursued professional reorientation, what trajectory they took within IT, and how they view their future. Asking these questions allowed me to understand their assumptions before joining the IT sector and how that changed after reconversion. Taking up the positionality similar to that of the halfie (Abu-

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> There was one exception. I also interviewed a person working as a project manager, a non-technical position, who also enrolled in a web developing course, however soon realized she wanted to stay in the non-technical field. I use her example to discuss the relationship between a passion for technology and work in IT.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> I also got written answers to my interview guide edited into a questionnaire from two converts who preferred written communication. However, due to the limited insight I got into their stories and attitudes, to avoid misinterpretation, I am not using directly the data provided by these respondents.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> These proportions incidentally correlate with the ratio of females enrolling in the largest IT school for professional reconversion in Romania, which according to the school, is more than 40% (Popescu 2023). However relevant the question of the genderedness of the profession, this topic exceeds the scope of this thesis.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The higher proportion of Hungarian speakers is a consequence of my own positionality. While the ethnic aspect of the structuring of the labor market is interesting, it is not in the scope of this thesis to unpack it.

Lughod 1991)<sup>6</sup>, they were able to support me with both an outside and an inside perspective on the sector, providing an opportunity to get a unique look into the imaginary surrounding IT. To understand the broader discourses, I also engaged in limited semi-systematic browsing of Linkedin and social media pages of IT companies and schools, as well as media statements of the municipality.

<sup>6</sup> Lila Abu-Lughod coins the term 'halfie' to mean people whose cultural or national identities are mixed, enabling them to have both an inner and an outer perspective on what classical anthropology would call a homogenous 'culture' (Abu-Lughod 1991). By calling professional converts 'halfies' I aim to highlight their multiple identities and sometimes contradictory positionalities.

### Chapter One: Neoliberal techno-fantasies in a post-socialist city

Right next to one of the biggest intersections of Cluj, in the area of Piața Cipariu, there is a small patch of green – a couple of square meters of grass with a handful of bushes and a white sign about the same size as the plants: "The Municipality of Cluj thanks the company Dual IT for adopting this green space." Once it catches the streetwalker's eye, she cannot help but keep noticing differently sized green spaces all across the city, with the logos of various, proportionately sized tech companies as their adopters. This is the outcome of an initiative of the Municipality of Cluj, launched in 2012, called *Adopt a green space*, which offers public spaces of various sizes<sup>8</sup> for companies and institutions to plant with decorative flora "so that the green spaces in the inner city of Cluj-Napoca meet European urban landscaping standards."

This is just one tiny facet of the symbiotic coexistence of the city government and the myriad of information technology (IT) companies based in the city, transforming the urban landscape and the lives that it contains (Udişteanu and Varninschi 2022). The way the municipality outsources the maintenance of public spaces to private companies, giving them an opportunity to self-advertise while at the same time trying to appeal to a "European standard," can be understood as a metaphor for its relationship to its labor force.

In this chapter, I argue that through building an image as a 'smart city' and an IT hub, the governance of Cluj is tapping into a general tendency of cities engaging in a technological solutionist discourse while at the same time appealing to the anti-communist bias of post-socialist societies, and thus creating an imaginary that shapes individual career choice. To show this, I will first outline Romanian neoliberalism and its specific characteristics to explain the special status of the IT sector in the country. Then I turn to describe the Romanian IT sector,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Romanian in original. All translations from Romanian and Hungarian are mine.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> The spaces available at the moment range from 16 to 3960 square meters.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> https://primariaclujnapoca.ro/spatii-verzi/adopta-un-spatiu-verde/

and finally to introduce Cluj as a case of, and a scale for, studying neoliberal transformations framed as technological innovation and development and to argue that it is in the interest of IT companies, the city and the state governments that changing careers to IT is imagined as a means of social mobility.

#### A bit of (Romanian) neoliberalism

Here in Transylvania, or in Romania, basically [...] it is for sure the case that whoever was good for something either emigrated or became an IT developer.

(Csaba, tester, MA in Philosophy, 35)

To contextualize the Romanian IT sector in the political economy of the state, after positioning my stance in the neoliberalism literature, I will discuss three facets of Romanian neoliberalism that are transforming how people view themselves and imagine their possibilities regarding their future career trajectory. First, I discuss how aggressive privatization and liberalization of the Romanian economy led to a massive wave of emigration and how that, in turn, became a channel for transferring back not only wealth but also ideologies. I will also outline how this process can be seen as a parallel to the functioning of Romanian IT outsourcing and its relationship to the 'West.' Second, I unpack the notion of zombie socialism, which gives an ideological nuance to post-socialist perceptions of this 'West.' Finally, I introduce the 'myth of the middle class' that is influenced by zombie socialism and which helps us understand the state's interest in supporting the IT sector.

As a form of governmentality, neoliberalism is seen first and foremost as a cultural project and a disciplinary mechanism aimed at transforming the subjectivities of the governed (Rose 1992). Neoliberalism is a technology of "governing through freedom" (Ong 2007, 4), aiming to produce subjects who govern themselves. The neoliberal subject imagines itself as an enterprising self who "will make a venture of its life, project itself a future and seek to shape itself to become that which it wishes to be" (Rose 1992, 6). We can understand this by

considering neoliberalism as a political economic regime. From this approach, scholars have coined neoliberalism as a system of upward redistribution, a solidification of capitalist power against worker solidarity, with the state as an ally in safeguarding private property and fostering free market activity (Harvey 2007). While a common feature of neoliberalism is economic redistribution in favor of capital, actively intensifying uneven development (Brenner and Theodore 2002, 352), scholars have generally argued that post-socialist states are prone to a particularly radical form of this, due to their anti-communist stances (Kofti 2016).

Cornel Ban (2016) shows that in the case of Romania, neoliberalism did not immediately bloom right after the fall of state socialism. However, once it started to nestle in, it quickly manifested in the state disembedding the economy, favoring market rationality while disregarding social cohesion. Amid a massive wave of deindustrialization throughout the 1990s and 2000s, the state engaged in aggressive privatization and liberalization processes, leading to society-wide state of precarity. The result of this was the biggest migration wave of the period within the EU, involving more than one-third of the country's labor force. Working abroad became a safety valve for extreme social dislocations, and through the remittance flows, migration solidified and became part of the very structure of the Romanian welfare system (Ban 2016, 66-68). As sociologist Dana Domșodi puts it, the country started "exporting its social contradictions" (Mateescu 2022, 245). However, despite the uniqueness of scale in Romania's case, this tendency itself fits nicely into a global trend of international migration becoming an attempt in trying to even out inequalities and reduce poverty (Boatcă 2016; Milanovic 2011), while through the process of neoliberalization, the state is changing its role from the caretaker of people to the supporter of the market (Harvey 2007). This is an important idea for the purposes of this thesis, because re-professionalization to IT is framed as possessing some of the same functions as migration.

First and foremost, IT promises Western wages to be spent in the Romanian market. Second, it also shows characteristics of a 'brain drain,', as mentioned by Csaba in the quote at the beginning of this subchapter. One seemingly obvious difference between transnational migration and the re-professionalization to IT is the population that turns to these alternatives. While migrant workers primarily provide blue collar labor (Ailincăi 2016), the masses that change careers to IT are mostly highly educated (Buta 2017). However, there is a significant overlap. Just in my – limited-sized – subject group, four people out of twenty-one have worked in seasonal jobs abroad before starting their career in IT.

However, neither migration nor career reorientation are merely economic questions. One specific socio-cultural element prevalent in the post-socialist semi-periphery, shared by both of these processes, is an ideology of "catching up" (Böröcz 2012). This manifests in imagining the goals of both individual self-improvement and state governance in acquiring the values and life conditions attributed to the "West." This is a characteristic of what Chelcea and Druţă coin 'zombie socialism.' Zombie socialism is the anti-communist ideology that post-socialist societies foster in favor of radical neoliberal doctrines (Chelcea and Druţă 2016). More specifically, while disregarding social problems that would require the intervention of a welfare state under the premise of the risk of slipping back into "old communist habits", the ideology of zombie socialism favors the support of a few selected areas of development that are associated with "Europeanization" (Chelcea and Druţă 2016). As I will show in this chapter, one, if not the most favored area in Romania is the IT sector.

Another aspect of post-socialist anti-communism can be observed on the level of subjectivities. Anca Simionca argues that in Romania, during the 1990s, references to the 'mentality' of people were omnipresent both in the media and in political discourses. In the context of work, 'mentality' is a vague concept, referring to "people's relationship to work, the commitment to the quality of its results, to investment of time and energy, and to expectations

from the employer, family or the state." (Simionca 2012, 127). I would add to this remark that more than 30 years after the fall of state socialism, it is still a prevalent expression in everyday conversations. It is used most popularly together with the adjective 'communist,' referring to all the ways a person is conceived to be against capitalist values, particularly in showing authoritarian tendencies, not being productive, or not caring for progress. As one of my interlocutors said about his former boss:

She is with this (ironic tone) good communist mentality [...] she doesn't care – just do it, and don't talk back, don't you dare say something, if something's wrong.

(Márk, developer, former actor, 29)

The positive hero of this imaginary becomes the character of the creative, ambitious, self-developing, self-disciplined subject (Zincă 2011; Petrovici 2012; Mihály 2015; Simionca 2016; Petrovici and Deneva-Faje 2020), who brings forwards the ethical project of capitalism (Szabó 2016; Troc 2019). This leads us to "the favorite subject" (Crăciun and Lipan 2020, 426) of neoliberalism, namely the 'middle class.'

The 'myth of the middle class' – without implying a Marxian understanding of 'class' – has been mobilized in post-socialist countries as "a benign category, free of implications of exploitation and social struggle." (Ost 2015, 614) As Crăciun and Lipan argue, such a notion of a middle class captures political potentials and turns them into consumption patterns. Aspirations of the middle class are presented as inherently ethical. The implicit, or sometimes even explicit, conclusion of this discourse is that the state should support and reward those doing well in the market, while it should punish those not fit to be successful (Crăciun and Lipan 2020). This shows the same logic of upwards redistribution with an ideological touch that Chelcea and Druţă point out to be a characteristic of post-socialist neoliberal states (Chelcea and Druţă 2016). Through this logic, the IT sector supposedly providing a means for masses to join the middle class makes it the poster child of the Romanian state.

#### IT – myth and reality

Having discussed the issues of transnational migration, anti-communist sentiments, and the glorification of the middle class, we can now turn to the framing produced about the IT sector and see how these notions unfold in this context.

The concept of 'IT' and the derived 'IT sector' and 'IT worker' that circulate in the public discourse and even in the literature are fuzzy, making comparing data from different sources problematic. At the same time, this fuzziness enables marketing agents to handle and present statistics flexibly, creating an image that serves the corporations' interests. The 'IT sector' is commonly understood to signify software developers and their work. However, when newspaper articles refer to statistics such as 'hundreds of thousands working in IT', they usually include other facets of the field of information and communication technology as well. For this thesis, I am taking Guga and Spatari's (2021) definition of 'IT' as an umbrella term for the categories 'Information technology service activities' and 'IT service activities.' In the Romanian Nomenclature of Economic Activities classification (hereafter, NACE), these jobs fall under divisions 62 and 63. Alternatively, a slightly more precise definition can include software publishing activities (NACE group 582) as well. Considering the NACE 62-63 divisions, we can talk about 115.000 people working in IT in Romania as of 2019 (ibid, 17). The average net salary of an employee in these divisions reached 7750 RON in 2020 (Guga and Spatari 2021, 33), while for the 20 largest IT companies in Romania this sum reached 12,900 RON in 2019 (ibid, 31). In a country where the average monthly wage is 3698 RON, and most of the population is still struggling to achieve a decent minimum standard of living, these statistics do create wide public interest. Beyond the implications on the individual employee's side, a general fascination towards the sector grew since the late 2000s, when IT was one of the first and quickest sectors to recover after the 2008 crisis. It is widely presented as the leading sector of the country's economy, the only one thriving despite the Covid-19 pandemic. "IT was the darling of the Romanian economy, and the triumphant sector in the pandemic [...] IT activity has grown steadily in a period of widespread uncertainty" (Guga and Spatari 2021, 3). Romanian IT professionals are marketized both in the media and on international outsourcing platforms as young, highly skilled, and full of potential individuals (Herman 2011). The difference, however, between the two discourses is that in the international discussion, they are presented as cheap workers, <sup>10</sup> while on the national/local level they are considered high earners.

In 2001, a government ordinance came into force providing exemption from payment of income tax for individuals engaged in computer programming activities. Apart from minor alterations to the ordinance, it remained in force ever since and facilitated an almost continuous growth of salaries within the field. A symbolic event in this upwards tendency occured in 2011 when the average salary in IT exceeded the one in "financial intermediation and insurance," ranking it as one of the highest in the country (Guga and Spatari 2021, 32). While the public attitude toward the exemption slowly transformed from outrage to neutrality, employees of the sector started to perceive it as an "inalienable and vested right," justified by the moral and economic argumentation stating IT as the leading sector of the country (ibid, 35). This understanding is still prominent, despite the losses the exemption creates in the country's economy, 11 as highlighted by a recent report of the World Bank (Roman 2023). It should be pointed out that the future withdrawal of the tax exemption probably would not affect labor cost as much as it would affect workers' net salaries, so its preservation does not necessarily support the sector in a direct, economic sense. Rather, it provides an aura of exceptionality and makes IT work exceptionally desirable. I would argue that such favoritism can be understood as a manifestation of the tendency of post-socialist neoliberal states to endorse a couple of selected

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> The average hourly cost of a Romanian IT&C employee in 2019 was 14.3 euro. This is the second-lowest figure in the European Union (Guga and Spatari 2021, 35).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Guga and Spatari (2021, 36) show that through the income tax exemption, between 2016 and 2020, the Romanian state indirectly subsidized the IT sector by no less than 3 billion RON (more than 600 million euros).

areas of development, associated with Europeanization, as outlined by Chelcea and Druţă previously. As mayor Boc emphasized in a recent conference of the American Chamber of Commerce in Cluj: "Romanian authorities should not 'touch' the field of technology for 20 years" (Reṣtea 2022).

Guga and Spatari (2021) point out that the fascination with the IT sector, while to some extent being grounded on factual data, ultimately is an overstatement of its significance and is a result partially of self-delusion and partially of conscious PR activity. They argue that Romanian IT is, in fact, no different than the rest of the country's economy, being based on nearshore outsourcing and selling low value-added services, relying mainly on foreign capital. <sup>12</sup> The real source of its eye-catching growth is not inherent to the field, but rather stems, on one hand, from being a new and developing sector, and on the other hand, from the fact that other aspects of the Romanian economy suffered severe damages, first in the 1990s, then again around the 2008 crisis, and finally during the 2020 pandemic. This means that once it reaches a level of maturity, it will blend into the landscape and will not provide the salvation it is advertised to bring. Despite the facts however, the 'myth of IT' is very real and shapes people's lives.

Looking at the arguments in support of the tax exemption can give us an insight into how the status of the sector is created on the national level. Guga and Spatari point out that there are three main narratives used in arguing for the tax exemption, namely keeping foreign investors in the country, stimulating the local consumption of IT workers, and thus fueling other sectors, and finally, awarding IT professionals for their outstanding productivity (ibid 36.). While there is no room here for unpacking the faulty logic of all these assumptions, <sup>13</sup> I argue that these are important discursive tools for the creation of the image of IT. First, by attaching foreign capital

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> 62.9% of employees in the Romanian IT services sector are employed by foreign companies. In this regard Romania takes second place among EU countries (Guga and Spatari 2021, 14).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> For that, see (Guga and Spatari 2021, 36–38).

to the very idea of IT, the dependent development model is legitimized. Second, choosing the IT workers as engines of consumption reinforces their assumed middle-class position, giving them exceptional consumption power, as 'favored subjects.' Third, by framing IT professionals as exceptionally productive, they are created as the capitalist heroes that the rest of Romanian society needs to learn from. In addition to these three building blocks in the imaginary of IT, I would add a fourth one, not mentioned by the authors. Namely, the idea that the IT sector will provide enough jobs and wages for those motivated enough to learn, creating an alternative for transnational migration and a means of social mobility. As the mayor of Cluj stated: "The wellpaying jobs are in this field [IT], we all know that through education we can have solutions to individual and societal problems – the way out of poverty, the way towards a better salary is through education." (Preda 2022). The general conception of working possibilities discussed in everyday conversations in the city under examination – Cluj – is, in fact, a reduced view of either leaving the country for seasonal work in the West or re-professionalizing to IT. As an IT worker with a graduate degree in translation studies voiced it poignantly in Mateescu's research, "I don't know what I would have done after graduation, if not for the IT corporations. Probably picking strawberries in Spain." (Mateescu 2022, 244).

#### The post-socialist Silicon Valley

I have to thank you for bringing innovation and modernity to Cluj [...] for the fact that you contributed to the creation of the unique *vibe* that this city has, based on innovation, based on a quality of life, based on a capacity to work and to be together and to construct a tolerant, European community.

Emil Boc, Mayor of Cluj, addressed to the representatives of a large IT company on the tenth anniversary of their arrival to the city (Preda 2022)

As addressed by companies offering outsourcing consultation services, Eastern European cities are a good choice for Western capital because of the cheap but well-trained workforce and a "closer time zone and a lack of a cultural barrier" (Andras 2017). While, in this discourse, both the geographic and the cultural closeness are presented as a given, it is also important to point out the ideological background of such assumptions. Post-socialist cities have a specific and central relationship to their past that is defining their vision of the future. They have a distinct imaginary of the 'West' and a desire to reduce their imagined distance from it in both time and space. Thus, post-socialist cities "are 'elsewhere' yet not so far, 'past' but not quite" (Ferenčuhová and Gentile 2016, 484). This ghost – or zombie (Chelcea and Druţă 2016) – of socialism is thus effectively exploited by the political elite in order to keep the self-imposed subordination and the neoliberal trajectory of the state and the city. Any claim for social security gets labeled as 'socialist', meaning backward, non-progressive, shameful. Hence, there is a labor force being created that is coerced to accept any cost of economic 'progress' (Ferenčuhová and Gentile 2016, 490). This ideology is what makes post-socialist cities perfect as outsourcing destinations.

After Bucharest, Cluj has the biggest population of IT specialists in Romania, meaning almost 18.000 workers, 4% of its inhabitants. Compared to urban areas with similar demographics – Timişoara and Iaşi, both having around 5.000 IT workers – it is an outstanding number indeed (Guga and Spatari 2021, 20). With 2,400 IT companies present in the city ('Lista Firmelor Din România' 2021), there is constant demand for new employment, making freelancing less widespread than in other regions.

Every industry needs some kind of infrastructure. New information technologies need access to both conventional and new infrastructure: airports, rail lines, highways – but also new

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> While Petrovici and Mare count it as approximately 22 thousand people (Petrovici and Mare 2020, 51), according to Guga and Spatari the number is closer to 18 thousand, if we apply the strictest sense of 'IT' (NACE groups 5821, 5829, 6201, 6202).

office buildings (Sassen 2007). Being in an advantageous geographic location and having an international airport, a railway station and a highway nearby serves classical transportation needs (Corodescu-Roșca, Hamdouch, and Iaţu 2023), while the constant reconstruction of the city serves newly emerging demands. At the same time, recycling redundant industrial spaces as business parks can be understood as an allegory to the way the city's labor force gets recycled as IT workers. "[L]abor becomes a form of social and urban belonging framed in the terms of a techno-moral governance that can refashion the entire city into a laboratory." (Mateescu 2022, 243). To serve this purpose, a couple of IT schools have appeared in the city, offering courses that in the duration of a few months promise to teach the fundamentals for getting a job in various fields within IT. 15

To examine what kind of local political economy and social imaginary made this happen, on the following pages I will shortly outline the history of the construction of the urban ideal that has been shaping the city since the fall of state socialism, resulting in what Sheila Jasanoff coins a sociotechnical imaginary. Sociotechnical imaginaries are "collectively held, institutionally stabilized, and publicly performed visions of desirable futures, animated by shared understandings of forms of social life and social order attainable through, and supportive of, advances in science and technology" (Jasanoff 2015, 4). The success of any sociotechnical imaginary relies on the context which it is applied to, the social structures and cultural norms, the political will and the infrastructural environment (Sadowski and Bendor 2019, 544). For

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Paula Buta, in her thesis about one of the biggest IT schools present in the city, with programs running across Romania, provides an overview of the demographic data of students who enrolled in 2016. Out of the 2185 candidates that enrolled nation-wide, between 1<sup>st</sup> of May 2014 and 1<sup>st</sup> of May 2016, the biggest proportion was between 26–30 years old (850 persons), followed by the age group 31–35 (601 persons). 61,60% were males, 38,39% being female. At the moment of enrollment, 66,20% of students were employed, 11,20% were students in formal education, and 9,60% were self-employed, leaving the remaining 13,00% as unemployed. As of fields of origin, the most prominent (31,8%) group was coming from a technical field, followed by finance and banking (10,60%), and services, business/management, marketing/advertising/PR, construction, education and others, all being below 10% (Buta 2017, 19–22). I could not find information that is more up to date, other than a Women's Day podcast episode of the school stating that now more than 40% of their students are female (Popescu 2023). However, we can assume that the tendencies generally stayed similar in the last 7 years.

this, the anti-communist sentiments nurtured by zombie-socialism are a great discursive weapon, and we will see how.

The post-socialist original accumulation of the 1990s in the city happened during the reign of mayor Gheorghe Funar (Székely 2020). Because of Funar's ultra-conservative leadership, unlike other similar cities in the country, Cluj was not welcoming Western investors. Consequently, its economy evolved based on local entrepreneurship up until 2006. This meant mostly a budding banking sector and some small software companies – the roots of its current economic hegemonies (Corodescu-Rosca, Hamdouch, and Iatu 2023). After Cluj's new mayor Emil Boc got elected, the nationalist discourse faded out and a techno-developmentalist took its place. The new mayor has started actively encouraging multinational companies to invest in Cluj (Mihály 2015, 67), building an image of the "magnet city (Vincze, Harbula, et al. 2019). Just after its opening up to foreign direct investment, the 2008 crisis further pushed the city towards a dependent development model. The composition of the city's labor force dramatically changed after the crisis. It became a hub for business and information technology outsourcing and in the course of 10 years, the number of people working in these sectors has tripled. Although economists contend that Cluj "has succeeded in managing a transition from a predominantly manufacturing town to a city with a strong and balanced economic mix" (Ionescu-Heroiu et al. 2013, 122), my interlocutors looking for jobs during the last 10 years have experienced it as a "mono-industrial" city for IT (Csaba, tester, MA in Philosophy). "I didn't feel like I had many options", said Kinga a tech support worker with an MA in Humanities. The city's functions as a place for reproduction of life have also changed. The inner city became a place of consumption for the middle class and of offices (Petrovici and Faje 2019). Starting in 2012, and increasingly after 2015 when the city won the title of European Youth Capital, the city's rebranding through "festivalization" began, meaning a refashioning of public spaces in order to host and attract more and more commercial festivals. Companies and

politicians' interest in temporal outbursts of economic and social activities (festivals) were aligned with the local creatives – especially those working in IT (Țichindeleanu 2019). The city government became committed to creating an environment pleasing to the "creative classes" (Florida 2002). Growth and innovation-oriented buzzwords like "talent, technology, trust and tolerance" became central to the discourse of the municipality with regards to the IT sector (Boc 2019). At the same time, within IT circles, it got increasingly problematized that there is a lack of real innovation and local product development, since most of the companies present in the city provide outsourcing services to Western European clients (McGrath 2016; Vijoli 2018).

As mentioned in the introduction, like many other places worldwide, Cluj is said to be 'a' Silicon Valley, particularly that of Eastern Europe. However, it might be a case of trying to "turn round the fortunes of ailing or peripheral spaces through decidedly optimistic place marketing" (Graham and Marvin 2002, 335). The ambiguity surrounding whether Cluj is an actual hub for innovation or just an outsourcing heaven providing cheap labor can be better understood by taking a critical look at the 'smart city' paradigm it is engaged in.

Scholars, bureaucrats, and urban planners all struggle with trying to define what the smart city is. There is no set of standards or an agreed upon semantic content of 'smart cities' (Hosu and Hosu 2019, 12). It remains a fuzzy concept (Deakin 2013). According to Vincent Mosco, the smart city is just another step on the historical trajectory of the imaginary of the garden city, the Radiant City, the organic urban village and the creative city of Richard Florida (Mosco 2019, 22). There are technological and social attributes to it, which together produce the sociotechnical imaginary of the city. The six areas of smartness that are usually considered are: smart economy, smart governance, smart living smart mobility, smart environment, smart people. According to the European Smart Cities website powered by TUWIEN, as of 2015, Cluj is one of two cities in Romania on the road of becoming 'smart', since it performs slightly

above the average in two key components – smart governance and smart environment – due to the city's allegedly good public and social services as well as its air quality and ecological awareness (Giffinger et al. 2015). At the same time, while there are air pollution sensor displays placed in various central locations throughout the city, Roma families evicted by the municipality from Coastei street have been relocated into the toxic and inhumane environment of the city's landfill (Vincze, Petrovici, et al. 2019), showing that a city can be 'smart' according to the standards while nurturing huge social inequalities.

Besides these aspects, what contributes to the city's smartness is the creation of its IT cluster constituted of companies and universities, as well as the city's tourism, services and digitalization, which include its smart parking system, electric busses, apps for public transport and city administration and online tools for citizenship participation, namely a mobile app for filing complains, called 'My Cluj' (Hosu and Hosu 2019). Beyond the technological givens, the larger part of making Cluj a smart city is, in fact, the discursive construction of it as such, through published strategies of the municipality ('Strategia de Transformare Digitală a Municipiului Cluj-Napoca' 2021) and personal statements of the mayor (Boc 2017). As Sadowski and Bendor point out, the smart city exists "in a liminal space between marketing and materiality, imagination and implementation, and becoming and being" (Sadowski and Bendor 2019, 541). The smart city paradigm operates within an ideology of technological solutionism, that frames societal problems as solvable through technological means (Morozov 2013).

Technological solutionism goes well with the ideology of zombie socialism, because under the 'smart city' paradigm "technological progress is considered a form of justice in itself" (Zamfir 2022), so there is no need for social intervention. To further highlight the discrepancy of building the image of a smart city in the context of a highly unequal society, reinforcing anti-communist sentiments, George Zamfir calls Cluj a heterotopia, relying on Foucault's term that means "a kind of effectively enacted utopia in which the real sites, all the other real sites that

can be found within the culture, are simultaneously represented, contested, and inverted" (Foucault 1986, 24). Cluj is a heterotopia in the sense of bearing the marks of a post-socialist city while embodying the techno-capitalist aspirations of the country, "our own Western world in a sea of post-communist decay" (Zamfir 2022).

#### Forming imagination

Cluj is really supporting the IT sector. The city itself, supports it a lot.

/But how?/

I don't know [...] this is the consensus, that they are propping IT. But maybe it's just that everyone is telling themselves this, and that makes them feel better.

(Szabolcs, developer, former seasonal worker, 32)

To summarize the argument presented in this chapter, what I call 'the myth of IT' is being created through converging some of the functions of migration with the ideology of zombie socialism and with the imaginary of the 'middle class', as well as the sociotechnical imaginary of the 'smart city'. While the IT sector has some real impact on the local society, providing jobs and high wages, changing the urban landscape and driving up the cost of living, it is also discursively constructed as a means for social mobility. The 'IT professional' stereotype fits into the broader image of the young, motivated, open minded emerging middle-class individual described by Chelcea and Druţă, who is put in opposition to the post-socialist working classes (Chelcea and Druţă 2016, 530).

While Cluj is only one in a series of places that claim to be the Silicon Valley of a certain region (Graham and Marvin 2002, 334) and its truly innovative potential is questionable, it does hold a distinguished place on outsourcing destination rankings. In addition to a body of workers marketized as such, the city itself gets mobilized for attracting multinational companies and foreign capital. It is telling that in the aforementioned blog post by Samuel Andras, comparing

outsourcing to Asia and Eastern Europe, a picture of Cluj's main square is shown, displaying iconic architecture – the city's brand has a synergic relationship with its IT workforce. The leading motif of the city's self-branding is that it is becoming a smart city, producing technological imaginaries and destroying social ones: fitting well into the creative destruction paradigm of neoliberalism (Harvey 2007).

#### Chapter Two: Work, career, and subjectivity

"I don't know, it was somehow in the air, no? That IT specialists earn well."

(Alpár, developer, musician, 30)

"Bezzeg the IT-ists..."



Figure 1: Instagram post of a Hungarian IT school based in Cluj.

Text of the post: "One of the best future-proof investments: learn how to code! Join our Clujbased course held in Hungarian if you too seek knowledge and a profession that is marketable." On the picture: "Bezzeg the IT-ists..."

'Bezzeg' is an expression mostly used in spoken Hungarian that expresses an attitude towards a statement being made. Its closest translation could be "just look at..." but without the gesture of pointing, and instead referring to a more abstract, underlying feeling of envy combined with resentment and moral judgment. Voicing an opinion about the IT sector in an everyday conversation in Cluj so often starts with 'bezzeg,' that it became unnecessary to even

end the sentence. It instantly evokes the high wages, the easy life, and the "pamperedness" (Mateescu 2022) of IT workers, as perceived by non-IT people.

IT schools, the institutions that feed off these exact emotions instrumentalize this already existing discourse for their marketing purposes, while, at the same time, they also reproduce it. With a playful illustration as a background, the message of this social media post is clear: if you re-professionalize – with our help – and start a career in IT, you can join the privileged group, the object of envy, and you will earn more than you do now. In addition, the caption of the post places this assumption in an investment language, emphasizing not just the possibility of quick ascension, but a promised long-term profitability and stability provided by skills that will stay relevant in the labor market – an understanding that my interlocutors also share. "There was a time when – I think I also felt this when I was thinking about starting – that I felt envy towards these people, because it's a very different sum, what they bring home every month." (Dániel, developer, MA in Music, 33). While desiring a higher wage might seem like a trivial motivation for career change, in some of my interlocutors' narratives, it also gained an attributed meaning, an expression of feeling of self-worth, a value that if followed, can bring like-minded people together.

I met other people, who just like me said, *ok*, *I want more money*<sup>16</sup> (laughs) or something like that and I want to work someplace else. Or, I want to give value to my time, because, for me, it was important not to work 12 or 10 hours a day for an amount that others make in 8.

(Ioana, tester/DevOps engineer, former accountant, BA in economics, n. a.)

24

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> In quotes from my interviews, writing in italics marks words, expressions or parts of sentences that the interviewees themselves said in English, in the context of a discussion otherwise held either in Hungarian or Romanian. I find the signaling of codeswitching relevant, since it usually bears meaning in itself, either gesturing an act of taking distance from the utterances expressed, or hinting towards ideas taken from the corporate discourse.

Career changes in the early phases of one's life can be generally understood as part of an 'exploratory period' described first by Form and Miller (1949), later modelled by Neal (1999). While Neal argues that workers usually switch occupations until they find a job that matches their skills and characteristics (Kalleberg and Mouw 2018, 290), I contend that simultaneously, the workers are also being created by their workplaces (Willis 1981) and thus the jobs that are available in the labor market. Through this chapter I will argue that indeed what attracts people to a career in IT is the promise of high wages and a lifestyle it can sustain. At the same time, in order to achieve that, a neoliberal subjectivity has to be formed. To show how this happens, I will look at how the workers contextualize their earnings, how they see growth in relation to that, and how that correlates with the ideals of technology and the "hacker ethic".

#### Nurturing a neoliberal subjectivity

Learning and self-development are central topoi of the images my interlocutors draw of their jobs. This means both a need for constant self-improvement in terms of staying up to date with technologies but also acquiring marketable skills that they can mobilize when they feel like moving forward from their current employment. In most of my interlocutors' understanding, IT is "one of the few sectors" requiring continuous learning. The job facilitates "growth of all kinds" (Răzvan, tech support, studied humanities, 29). From personal advice from colleagues, to friendly nudging from managers making one "want to continue and do even more and even better" (Maria, tester, former editor, 37). I observed that they would often talk about 'self-development' or 'growth' as a fuzzy concept, or even as a catachresis. Thinking back about his previous aspirations of becoming a teacher, Csanád uses the notion to euphemistically refer to salary raises – and a lack thereof. "I don't know how much a teacher earns now, but then I saw that even if you can make a living out of that, you can't develop

yourself." (Csanád, software developer, BA in Mathematics, 33). In this sense, 'self-development' can be understood as what Henrietta Moore coins a concept-metaphor, i. e. a metaphor without adequate referent. "Their exact meanings can never be specified in advance – although they can be defined in practice and in context – and there is a part of them that remains outside or exceeds representation." (Moore 2004, 73).

Such an idea of self-development is an attribute of the neoliberal subjectivity that converges personal and professional development. Subjectivity is a "specific cultural and historical consciousness" (Upadhya 2016, 21), an "ensemble of modes of perception, affect, thought, desire, and fear that animate subjects" (Ortner 2006, 107). Under neoliberal governance, a specific kind of subjectivity is being produced, through which the self as a whole gets turned into a reflexive project that has to be worked upon, transformed and improved (Giddens 1991), finding a fertile ground in the corporate context. Just like Nikolas Rose (1998, 161) put it: "Expertise plays the role of relay between objectives that are economically desirable and those that are personally seductive, teaching the arts of self-realization that will enhance employees as individuals as well as workers. Economic success, career progress, and personal development intersect in this new expertise of autonomous subjectivity". 'Developing yourself' thus evokes an idea of the self as an entrepreneur of one's own life (McNay 2009, 62; Kasmir 2001), mediating between organizational goals and personal objectives (Chelcea 2014, 40).

This form of subjectivity becomes so hegemonic, that it is not a mere possibility or inspiration anymore — it becomes mandatory. Hadas Weiss draws a parallel between the macroeconomic process of financialization and the doctrine of constant learning, understood as investment into our 'human capital'. She argues that investment-driven self-determination is not a free choice, since "[a]s with financialized property, tireless reinvestment alone might keep us from falling behind" (Weiss 2019, 105). Maria, former editor who joined an IT company as front office assistant, felt a push towards upward movement coming from her manager. Despite

liking her non-technical job, she was nudged multiple times to enroll in courses in more technical segments. She eventually completed an internship and changed her position to be a tester.

People are encouraging you to develop yourself, from a professional point of view. It took me, not three, it took me around five years to get from front office to testing, to QA testing, but I got here. [...] I felt... not necessarily pressured, but my manager kept asking me, ok, how are you doing? What do you want? Every year, what do you want from your job in the future, what would you like to do?

(Maria, tester, former front office assistant, and editor, MA in Humanities, 37)

Even if she did not want to make the move, and is still feeling nostalgic about her previous position, she expressed deep gratitude towards her manager and colleagues who supported her in learning and re-professionalizing within the company. Her story can be interpreted as an example of the constant de-skilling and re-skilling of the workforce tackled by David Harvey. Harvey argues that in order to keep labor precarious and thus cheap, corporations constantly devaluate and then rebuild the skills of their workers (Harvey 1989, 229–30). But under a neoliberal labor regime this feature of precarization not only presents itself as something to be accepted, but also as a mindset that has to be acquired.

As Norbert Petrovici and Neda Deneva-Faje point it out, firms are no longer seen as a provider of a stable working position, but more as a place where the neoliberal subjects can develop themselves, enhancing their personal employability (Petrovici and Deneva-Faje 2020). This fits into the idea of the boundaryless career (Greenhaus, Callanan, and DiRenzo 2008), in which one's career does not unfold within one firm, but rather in a sequence of occupied positions in various companies, or even various professions (Joseph et al. 2012). To navigate this, self-governing subjects have to build their employability consciously, turning all experiences into learning opportunities in service of their career (Petrovici and Deneva-Faje

2020, 57). As expressed by Maria, "nothing you do in life *at some point,* is useless." (Maria, tester, former editor, front office assistant, 37).

On the other hand, however hegemonic this form of subjectivity is in our present, some forms of agency can manifest even within it. As Carol Upadhya points out, an anthropologically sensitive study of neoliberal subjectivities cannot leave out the ways worker-subjects mobilize culturally embedded responses to new work regimes, and how they navigate self-fashioning while making use of the opportunities their jobs provide (Upadhya 2016, 18). Nándor, a Humanities graduate, sees this urge to constantly progress in a cynical light, not being attracted by it. Under the pressures interpreted as part of the 'corporate culture', Nándor frames his disinterest almost as an act of resistance, a sign of the unchanged self.

So, this is, for example, corporate culture, that there is a hierarchy, strongly defined hierarchy, different levels, I don't know, twelve levels. And then naturally you can move upwards. And then, if you put your life on this, then you always see the next step on the ladder. So, there is a structural arch to this, but if the question is, how much, to what extent did I embrace this going-upwards on the ladder – well, obviously, not at all.

(Nándor, tech support, MA in Humanities, 26)

However, he still finds learning and acquiring skills through utilizing the company's resources a good opportunity, despite understanding that it is ultimately in his employer's interest to invest into him as human capital. He echoes David Harvey's remark that in the post-Fordist flexible accumulation regime "[k]nowledge itself becomes a key commodity, to be produced and sold to the highest bidder, under conditions that are themselves increasingly organized on a competitive basis." (Harvey 1989, 159–160).

Obviously, it is in the company's interest to increase your knowledge level. Or to be able to say that my employee knows this and that, compulsorily. For example, when – we are outside contractors –, when my company is selling me as a service, it's

in its interest for me to be as skilled as possible, so he can ask as much money from the other company, selling my services. So, this is why there are these trainings. Which is a good thing, I think.

(Nándor, tech support, MA in Humanities, 26)

In fact, many of my interlocutors find this the most appealing about their jobs. Many of my interlocutors had it as the final argument for their struggles that one just has to progress, you cannot stagnate. This constant growth and learning that IT professionals supposedly perform infiltrates their whole life. On the one hand, as part of the "cognitariat" they "prepare their nervous system as an active receiving terminal for as much time as possible. The entire lived day becomes subject to a semiotic activation which becomes directly productive only when necessary."(Berardi 2009, 90)

On the other hand, it also bears an attributed prestige. Their intellectual skills are not only exploited, but glorified. Similarly to how 'smartness' is used to create an aura of the Wall Street, as described by the ethnography of Karen Ho (2009), passion, intellect, problem-solving skills, talent and hard work are topoi producing the high status of tech jobs. A manifestation of the institutionalization of this idea is the fact that HR departments now have "Talent Recruiters" looking for and attracting possible applicants for open positions. Klára, former secretary, after completing a course in testing, was approached through Linkedin by such a recruiter. Not having to look for a job, instead the job finding her gave a sense of accomplishment and reassurance. Especially, since her initial motive for changing her career was that her previous job as a secretary, while providing stability and financial safety, left her with a sense of "lacking... a lacking of using my brain, I didn't stimulate it." (Klára, tester, BSc in food engineering, 43). For Ioana, former accountant, similarly, changing to IT "wasn't a decision of financial nature. It was instead of intellectual nature."

The work is challenging, and for most, that is experienced as fun and exciting. It requires mobilizing already owned knowledge in combination with searching for new information and adapting skills to specific situations. Unlike Oana Mateescu's (2022) interlocutors, some of my interviewees who occupy tech support jobs do take satisfaction in their roles, be it highly educated individuals with a critical look on their positionality in the global value chain. Kinga, a graduate of Humanities has been working in the managed services field for more than 6 years. Even if she feels conflicted about working in a corporation and thus "complying with the whole capitalist, *unfair* corvee", she finds enjoyment and a feeling of fulfillment in her job. "And, turns out, I enjoy this very much. [...] So, it was weird, getting there, but turns out, it's not bad. I mean, it's not bad, as an experience, on a very personal *level*" (Kinga, tech support, MA in Humanities, 33).

The contradiction she navigates here is between an ideological opposition against corporate capitalism and a sense of lack of alternatives. Her way out is to focus on her immediate surroundings, her colleagues and the enjoyment she finds in completeing her tasks. In this sense, a bubble within the bubble is created. The pleasant experience of personal interactions and a friendly working environment, enjoyable tasks and a sense of worth make her ethical dilemma less salient. Not necessarily meaning but pleasure is derived, when the worker experiences work as play that comes in package with status and a salary. Szabolcs compares coding to playing video games, stating that the only difference between the two is in terms the social acceptance and appreciation.

Thinking non-stop, problem solving for hours on end, non-stop. It's like mental masturbation. Exactly like that. Your brain is spinning, spinning, and it feels good. It's like gaming, only you're not such a loser and you get paid for it.

(Szabolcs, developer, former seasonal worker, 32)

Working in tech in itself can be a source of prestige, being part of the 'coding elite' (Burrell and Fourcade 2021). For my interlocutors, this is especially true if they get to work with a specific company whose product they admire. Many interlocutors praised the feeling of having to work on a product they use in their everyday life, and for a few, wanting "to be a part" was even the idea that set their re-professionalizing process in motion. "And when I first held an iPhone in my hands, I realized that the apps are working on it. And that I want to be a part of this, rather, if I try out anything, I want to try out this." (Dániel, developer, MA in Music, 33). This is reminiscent of how upscale retail stores exploit young workers by rewarding them with identification with designer brands, and a status of having a "cool" job (Misra and Walters 2016).

#### The hegemony of having fun at work

Being passionate about technology is also part of the hegemonic subjectivity expected of IT workers. In the late 1990s and early 2000s, the "hacker ethic," coined by Pekka Himanen, seemed like a romantic idea of creating new, better worlds through the power of coding (Himanen 2001). By being increasingly intertwined with a neoliberal subjectivity, it is now grounding ideas of self-transformation. Héctor Beltrán, in his ethnography of Mexican programmers, gives an account of the hacker ethic principles: "Give before you get", "Don't ask for permission", "Doing > Talking", "Excuses don't exist", "Solve problems", "Follow your curiosity", "Failing ==Growing", "Know your tools and communities", "Always learn", "Get involved", "Have fun in the process" (Beltrán 2020, 493). Through an understanding of writing code as intervening, it is turning into a metaphor for taking things into one's own hands and changing the world as well as changing one's life. This becomes evident when Márk, developer and former actor states that coding taught him that "There's no such thing as 'it's not possible'!"

The "hacker ethic" also takes the working conditions developed by flexible accumulation models and subjectivizes it. As Harvey noted in 1989, just-in-time production

necessitates the flexibilization of labor in many different ways. However one general feature is the reshuffling of the 40 hour average work week into more intense and less intense periods (Harvey 1989, 150). In IT jobs this means a work-intensive period right before the product's release. The overwork demanded in these periods is legitimized by the long periods of staying on the bench – waiting after the end of one project to get assigned to a new one, while getting the usual salary –, and what's more, glorified by a masculine heroism.

When it's *release day*, and you're falling behind, and you have to do one week's work from 9 in the morning until 10 in the evening. You must. Not finishing is not an option. It's not. Last time I worked 13 hours, with one 10-minute break. I'm not kidding. And we got the *release* done. They couldn't believe it. [...] This is again like, you prove to the management that... 'Wow... If shit hits the fan, the boys will take care of it!'

(Balázs, developer, musician, 30)

Another struggle my interviewees face ergarding liking their job is that it makes it hard to draw boundaries, even if one is conscious about being overworked. Sára gives an account that fits into Ashley Mears' argument, "[e]xploitation works best when it feels good." (Mears 2021, 154)

It's great that what I have to focus on now, is that I don't work too much. Cause I can slip into being hyperfocused and then I overdo it. And they exploit it. Not in a bad sense, but the thing is, the guys own the company, and so they are very *invested*, and they basically work day and night.

(Sára, developer, BA in Humanities, 26)

An emphasis on "having fun" is apparent in the ideology of the hacker. Alexandra, a graduate of international management, who started a course in coding but did not finish it and now works as project manager at one of the biggest IT companies in Cluj, makes a categoric statement about the relationship between passion and success in IT. "If you're not passionate

about the field, you won't sit and search to be up to date with the latest technologies. [...] However promising it is, you have to like it" (Alexandra, project manager, MA in economics, 33).

### The hacker ethic – outsourced

To move forward from the idealized image of a passionate coder, I will turn to discuss the subjectivity of outsourcing. Many of my interlocutors share a feeling of uselessness due to not having a sense of helping people, or being very distanced and detached from the users they imagine working for. Having a sense of displacement, Csaba, tester, finds it hard to be motivated to work on a product that he or his community will never use, not just because of geographical location, but also due to economic and cultural differences.

Most of the time you won't even see, you won't even use this app. This is another weird thing, that I was working on products that don't exist in Romania, in Hungary... they are exclusively for Germans or Dutch people [...] You know, when you start working on something like this and you look up if there is something similar here. And there wasn't.

(Csaba, tester, MA in Philosophy, 35)

Having worked as a tester for more than 10 years now, Csaba is cynical about the nature of his job, viewing his outsourced labor as of second-class quality.

For now, all the projects in Eastern Europe are those they don't do in the West. Because they are boring (laughs), because they don't bring big money, because no one would do it except us, and the Indians, maybe.

(Csaba, tester, MA in Philosophy, 35)

My interlocutors did share an "experience of differential valuing of labor" (Vora 2015, 69) originating from their peripheral situation. As Nándor illustrates, with a pinch of self-irony "This is a typical example of outsourcing, that we obviously do the work for less money [...]

for sure a Frenchman wouldn't be willing, for a salary like this" (Nándor, tech support, MA in Humanities, 26).

Alpár, developer, feeling alienated from the projects he is working on, tries to keep in sight that on the other end of all the code he writes, another person will be enjoying the benefits, wherever they might be. However, another inner conflict emerges from this approach: he doesn't have control over what the software he develops will be used for, putting him into a morally opaque position.

I'm starting to focus on the perspective that after all, even if very indirectly, there's going to be a person using what you make [...] I think about this a lot, about how it will be used what we work on, or what I work on. That's a shitty feeling you know, if you are working on something, and it will be used to fire 5 people. But I hope it won't! (Laughs.)

(Alpár, developer, musician, 30)

Science and Technology scholars James Malazita and Korryn Resetar argue that computer science education produces anti-political subjects, through teaching them to separate their life experiences and moral dilemmas from their abstract coding work (Malazita and Resetar 2019). Upon asking, all of my interlocutor said they could theoretically decline a project if they disagreed with it or did not like it, without a fear of being fired. In praxis however, since they are in a learning phase, they just seek opportunities for developing their skills and gaining experience, not considering the product. With the urge of life-long learning and the pressure to ceaselessly increase employability, it is not clear if they will ever reach the point when they can start thinking about morality and preferences. In this regard as well, they are in a similarly precarious position as migrant workers who tend to accept jobs with a low socio-economic status, considering it to be part of the modus operandi, and having hopes of future advancement (Ailincăi 2016, 202).

To summarize the central contradiction outlined in this chapter, the self-development discourse and the hacker ethic comes into conflict with the experienced meaninglessness of their job, as it can be observed in the reasoning of Nándor, a self-proclaimed "comfortable man". He navigates multiple contradictory discourses at the same time, both arguing for and against self-development as an end in itself, as well as both agreeing and disagreeing that work can be a source of fulfilment.

I can't imagine a more comfortable job. [...] But still, you have to progress. I feel this too, that one cannot just stay stagnant. [...] It becomes boring. And if you are bored, you make mistakes. See me in the last month. And also, because it won't give me any sense of fulfilment after a while, to send a request to the IT team, the real IT team, that this guy needs a headset. So, this is pretty meh, really. [...]

/But do you look for... as you said, fulfilment in work?/

For sure. You won't find fulfilment here, nobody... I think, either way, work isn't for finding fulfilment, but to earn money.

(Nándor, tech support, MA in Humanities, 26)

Chapter Three: Towards the "good life"



Figure 2: Instagram post of one of the biggest IT schools in Romania.

Text of the post: "About this good! From Braşov, Bucureşti, Cluj, Craiova, Iaşi, Sibiu and Timişoara, our mentors are cooking together, virtually. Yes, we take a bite from other passions too. Just like in a family." Text on the image: "There exists a line of code that can make the world a better place."

This Instagram post caters to two myths surrounding the IT sector at once. Through the writing on the wall, it reproduces the technological solutionist myth (Morozov 2013) that technology can solve the problems of the world, while through the image of a professional-looking plate of high-end food it hints at the idea that joining the field can also provide the means for individual ascension to a middle-class life with its specific patterns of consumption. Making one's *own* world a better place. The salary range, the flexibility of working hours, the possibility to work remotely and the non-monetary benefits<sup>17</sup> together enable my interlocutors to lead the modern middle-class lifestyle they always wanted. In this chapter I will discuss these

36

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> The benefits that my interlocutors mentioned range from always having fresh fruits in the office, through weekly massages to private healthcare.

facets of working in IT, to show what kind of lifestyle converts are seeking and how that is fueled by a middle-class imaginary, constructed by neoliberal ideology. In the first section I elaborate on the ideology of the middle class as generally present in neoliberal capitalisms, but prominently instrumentalized in post-socialist discourses in the context of 'catching up'. I provide my analysis's theoretical base and present the collected empirical material that underlines this tendency. Then I discuss my interlocutors' interpretation of the paradoxical effects that the sector's development brings to the city, and their value chain positionality. Finally, I end on a remark about the contradictory combination of stability and precarity associated with working in IT and the perspectives it forecasts.

### The myth of the middle class

In her book "We Have Never Been Middle Class", Hadas Weiss argues that there, in fact, is no such thing as the middle class. Building on a broader understanding of recent scholarly work that "saying 'middle class' is almost like saying 'no class at all'" (Weiss 2019, 22) she makes the case that the 'middle class' is just an ideological tool of neoliberal governance. She argues that "middle-class" is constructed to mean "normal", and a category that is supposed to be open to be entered by anyone, since it is not coined in opposition to any other group (ibid.). Similarly, Márk Áron Éber in his book about the class structure of the Hungarian society argues that the middle class is an illusion, performatively constructing the myth that the ideal lifestyle can be achieved by anyone willing to work hard (Éber 2020).

However, it is increasingly hard to see how the social ascension that is promoted by this idea can be achieved. As discussed in recent literature on social mobility, education has lost its potential for facilitating it (Durst and Huszár 2022, 5). "If the credentials we get from school and university ever were entry tickets to gainful employment, they certainly no longer are." (Weiss 2019, 102). But social mobility is in itself a complex question. There is clear evidence, that while social mobility is glorified in the public discourse, it is in fact a marker of inequality.

High social mobility in a society means great inequalities to climb in the first place. Secondly, seeing social mobility as an individual effort is reinforcing the myth of meritocracy, which in return nurtures the acceptance of inequalities, suggesting that "whatever your social position at birth, society ought to offer enough opportunity and mobility for 'talent', when combined with 'effort', to 'rise to the top'"(Durst and Huszár 2022, 1).

In this regard, the 'myth of the middle class' is directly connected to the 'myth of meritocracy', and professional reconversion to IT is a way for these to manifest. While the phenomenon itself shows the failure of formal educational institutions to provide young people with professions that lead to decent jobs – to ascend or even stay in the so-called middle class – it is also reproducing the idea that achieving a decent livelihood is a matter of willingness to adapt, smartness to invest and thus, individual responsibility. This is why it is so effective in mobilizing it as a leeway for the ideology of the middle class. As previously cited from a speech of the mayor of Cluj: "The well-paying jobs are in this field [IT], we all know that through education we can have solutions to individual and societal problems – the way out of poverty, the way towards a better salary is through education." (Preda 2022).

Representing the strata of society that can afford a "good life" (Crăciun and Lipan 2020), the middle class has been produced and is being produced through the convergence of personal aspirations and national and transnational capital interest, "as part of regional and global processes associated with neoliberal politics." (Troc 2019, 89). In his analysis of the suburbanized middle class of Cluj, Troc argues that the global capital flow searching for opportunities of profit maximalization is creating "opportunities for certain strata of workers to live and define themselves as successful social groups." (ibid. 90.) Two main facets of this process is the transformation of the housing market for the construction of American style suburbs (ibid.), and the gentrification of the inner city, making space for centers of

consumption, ready to serve *and* generate the needs of the middle class (Petrovici and Faje 2019).

The consumption imaginary that is built around working in IT fits into the broader notion of the 'middle class' as a myth. The 'IT worker' is produced as "a rare (if not the only) profile that aligns with the socio-economic desires" of the general public (Guga and Spatari 2021, 3). In the public's eye, this turns IT into a bubble, that provides an alternative, detached, pampered way of living (Mateescu 2022). Just like how Zamfir (2022) coins Cluj a heterotopia, the IT office can also be interpreted as such.

Well, the elite of the IT is not living in the real world. They don't know what kind of material difficulties a common Romanian citizen has. I saw this, I remember, when we were doing the catering business, that they receive a lot of free *shit*, you know, events, food, and so on and so on. And they are not aware, they don't value the services they get, that no one else in other fields get.

(Viktor, tester, chef, 31)

A central aspect of the kind of life they want to lead that my interlocutors highlighted is that of homeownership. The fact that the minimum wage does not allow inhabitants of Cluj to pay for rent in decent living conditions has been at the center of the struggles of the city's housing movement for years now (Vincze and Liță 2021; Căși sociale ACUM! 2021). Connected to rents being disproportionately high and housing conditions being extremely precarious in the city is the fact that purchasing an apartment is considered to be a luxury that only the top high earners can afford. Viktor voices a discrepancy between expected life-trajectory and the reality of living in a present-day housing market, but frames it in an individualized way, a personal struggle.

In my case, there is a big conflict between, you know, when you're a kid, you imagine where you will be when you're thirty, and where you are in fact. And Cluj is quite an

expensive city. And for you to progress, with your own little personal projects, I'm thinking about material things, to own a house and stuff...

(Viktor, tester, chef, 31)

#### Social and economic remittances

Gabriel Troc contends that houseownership is also a part of the middle-class imaginary. While it is rooted in legitimate desires for stability, it is also exploited and inflated by Western capitalist investors in the city. He more generally argues that in post-socialist societies the myth of the middle-class gets framed less as a facet of social stratification, but a desired step towards materializing 'Western' ideas (Troc 2019). To tie back to the zombie socialism examined in the previous chapter, the 'West' is imagined as where the wages are high, and where the desires get produced.

What this means for Csaba, Philosophy graduate and tester, the lifestyle associated with working in a corporation is not simply a consequence of the material conditions provided by a high earning job, but a cultural coping mechanism learnt from the West to substitute having a meaningful job. While growing increasingly disenchanted by his job, he started picking up the hobbies he had previously associated with Westerners.

So, listen to me, while all this happened, I started swimming, I started reading, I started drinking, I started writing. Heavens! So, you know, in the late 90s we were watching TV and saw how many things Westerners do. They do jogging... Well, this is why!

(Csaba, tester, MA in Philosophy, 35)

To understand this process, I again turn to the scholarship about transnational migration. Scholars who engaged with the notion of "social and economic remittances" (Kelly 2020; Levitt 1998) argue that by transferring money from the destination countries to their countries of origin, migrants are also sending home values and concepts, creating a flow of ideas with its direction opposite to the flow of labor. Krisztina Németh (2022) similarly makes the case that

returning migrants come home with a changed habitus, resulting in altered values and thus ways of consumption. This process is not free of ideological implications. Polina Manolova characterizes the socially mobile arriving to the middle class in Bulgaria as having acquired a feeling of entitlement for living a 'good life' due to their educational background, entrepreneurial spirit, European values and overall 'Western mentality'. However, she argues that many feel that to live a 'good life' constructed this way, they must migrate to a 'civilized' Western society (Manolova 2020). Relocation on the other hand comes with several detriments, among them is a loss of social capital accumulated in the original social context. But this is where working in outsourcing resolves a conflict that migration cannot. What it makes possible is to get the Western wages and ideas in the context of the work life, without actual physical mobility. Creating the IT sector's image as a bubble (Mateescu 2022) as well as producing Cluj as a heterotopia (Zamfir 2022) both serve the purpose of producing a place where 'Western' ideas can flourish and get implemented, enabling people to live the 'good life' while staying at home. This is what ultimately makes professional reconversion to IT a strong alternative for transnational migration to some people.

# "Central-Eastern Europe is not ready for this" 18

A final aspect of posing developed countries as something to aim for is voiced both by Csaba, tester, graduate of Philosophy and Dániel, developer, former musician. They both expressed an understanding of Romania not being ready for such a socio-cultural leap that the IT sector is providing. Csaba contends that "we are not culturally prepared" for an individualistic corporate lifestyle, referring to the 'mentality' discourse (Simionca 2012) unpacked in Chapter One, but twisting it with an ironical tone: "Those born in the late 80s, the parents of those people, they have never been capitalists, and they will never be. No problem,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Csaba, tester, MA in Philosophy, 35.

this is only natural. And then we should be the big capitalists? There could be a sort of transition towards capitalism, but no. Thrown in at the deep end." Dániel on the other hand points to a discrepancy on the level of management of state funds. Compared to other countries where the economy is more balanced and embedded, where social spending is more defined, he sees the Romanian governance faulty for supporting the IT sector but letting the cultural field struggle.

What I feel like is that it's quite outrageous how there is no other field – and again, I'm mostly thinking about art – that is this well supported. In a lot of other countries where IT is working, it is already sorted out, cause they know that they have to spend on it, and what is happening here is that theatres and theatrical companies are closing up.

(Dániel, developer, MA in Music, 33)

While he utilizes the 'catching up' framework, it means something very different to him than it does for the mayor of Cluj. Instead of innovation and technological progress, having a flourishing cultural scene would mean Europeanization for him. The situation that Dániel is referring to is exemplified by a symbolic event in the neoliberal transformation of the city. In March of 2022 the Paintbrush Factory, a well-established contemporary art space operating for 13 years, was shut down. This event was a culmination of a long process of degradation of the independent cultural scene of Cluj (Branişte 2022). What took over the space that became unaffordable to the cultural center – is offices of IT companies. This brings us back to the other side of the sector's ambiguous status, being part of the creative destruction of the urban milieu both on an infrastructural and on a population level, as a facilitator of a brain drain. Having gone through these processes personally, despite the status Dániel associates with working in tech and the benefits he draws from it, he also feels shame for being part of these transformations.

We have [an office], and, well, for someone who's very close to art, it is a pretty big... *shame*, to say it like that, that the [company's] Cluj headquarters is in the building of the former Paintbrush Factory. Pfff. And I have to work here? And not as an artist?

(Dániel, developer, MA in music, 33)

Another effect the sector is believed to have on the city is an increase in housing prices. Here lies another contradiction voiced by a number of my interlocutors. While Viktor joined the IT sector hoping to achieve a desired livelihood, the city that takes his labor is making it hard for him to reproduce his life there.

The prices skyrocketed because of this, especially talking about housing. Both for rent, and if you want to buy an apartment. There will be such a huge gap between, there is already, but it will get even bigger I think, between the IT and the non-IT world, that the non-IT world soon cannot afford to go out in the city [...] At this point, I don't think the city offers as much as it takes away.

(Viktor, tester, chef, 31)

Thus, Cluj as "an expensive city" for the public is being produced by the very same logic that is promised to make it livable for the individual, making it hard for even the IT professionals to achieve the life they seek. This is a point where my interlocutors face their specific positionality in the global value chain. A Romanian IT outsourcing salary enables one to buy a house, however it must either be "not very beautiful" (Csaba, developer, BA in Mathematics, 33) or acquired through a mortgage. To navigate this, some of my interlocutors foster long-term plans of working at one of the tech giants and accumulating what they consider a truly decent sum.

Yeah, this is one of my big plans [...] to work for a year or half a year at Google, Facebook, or one of these big companies. [...] otherwise, I won't have a chance to buy

an apartment anywhere. House. I want a house. I mean, *obviously*, I can build a house, but I don't want to keep paying the bank until I turn 70, four times the amount.

(Balázs, developer, musician, 30)

## Flexible stability- and when will the "bubble burst"

One of the ways my interlocutors deal with this ambiguity of the city is changing to remote work and simply move out of the city, while keeping their jobs. Regarding flexibility in space, there is a double movement present. While some of my interlocutors decided changing to tech jobs to be able to move into the city, afford housing and an urban lifestyle, some of them chose IT to be able to move away from the city, making use of the normalization of remote work during the pandemic.

This leads us to another aspect of the modern middle-class lifestyle that IT is said to allow one to lead, namely a combination of flexibility and stability. Scholars of the post-socialist block argue that after the fall of state socialism, with the arrival of corporate capitalism, workers had to start developing new personas, interiorizing the "doctrines of flexibility" (Dunn 2004, 7; Chelcea 2014, 38). Most of my interlocutors being in their late 20s or early 30s are socialized with this post-Fordist idea of work, an "insecurity culture" (Pugh 2015) normalizing flexible working hours, project-based employment or external contracting, and a boundaryless perspective on their career (Greenhaus, Callanan, and DiRenzo 2008).

Like many platform workers (Vallas and Schor 2020), the digital workers I interviewed seek freedom and flexibility in work. As Csanád, 33, a developer said, "I have always been looking for freedom, freedom on the level of time, or money-wise, or I don't know, generally." Flexibility is so central, that it changes the way Balázs, 30, a developer and musician, even thinks about work. Having experience as a call center operator, he now resents the idea of a nine-to-five job, saying "I realized that the only way I can work is if I don't work." Márk, 29, developer and former actor, similarly framed the time-sheet at his previous workplace as a

remnant of socialism, and welcomed the flexible working hours that his current company provides. Now he can work when feeling productive, or go home or make use of the PlayStation available at the office when feeling tired.

Unlike platform work however, being employed by one of the big IT companies of Cluj also means stability, predictability and reliability for my interlocutors. Under these circumstances, stability gets defined in relational terms. Compared to seasonal work abroad, working in IT means having a job throughout the year. Compared to taking translating gigs on a platform, it means social benefits and a reliable constant workload. Compared to a career in the entertainment industry, it means safety if a pandemic hits and communal gatherings are prohibited. Compared to being a lawyer, it means a clear career trajectory and an assurance of progress.

Szabolcs, 32, developer, who has worked abroad on and off for the last 10 years even frames starting a career in IT as "the new beginning of his life", providing the stability he never knew he needed. Unlike Szabolcs, Kinga felt a lacking of stability in her life, feeling like a looser for not being able to sustain herself, even with her parents providing an apartment for her.

The stability, that really was missing before. From this point of view, especially back then, I felt like this *job* saved me, a bit, but at the same time probably any other *job* would have saved me, if it was stable.

(Kinga, tech support, MA in Humanities, 33)

The stability she talks about can also be understood regarding social status reproduction. While her parents were able to afford granting her an apartment in the city, with her humanities degree she couldn't secure a job that would keep her in a middle-class position, economically speaking.

This sense of stability sounds surprising in the backdrop of a vast literature about the precarity of digital labor. The 'cybertariat' (Huws 2014) or cyber-proletariat (Dyer-Witheford 2015) is generally understood as the sufferer of the ultimate neoliberalization of labor conditions, its labor being 'footloose', its occupational identities being destroyed, forced to remain permanently flexible (Huws 2014). While my interlocutors do experience unexpected layoffs, being pushed around between projects and feeling an urge to change positions as well as employers frequently, they still consider working in IT a safe path. This could be tied back to an image of the sector entangled with the imaginary of the future, cultivated in the childhood of my interlocutors. As Csaba traces it back, "everyone's been told, right, in the late 80s, early 90s [...] that technology is the future, you should understand and process this, and choose your job or school according to this." (Csaba, software tester, MA in Philosophy, 35). These ideas are only being reinforce by the discourse fostered by the municipality of Cluj, as shown in Chapter One.

In addition, the Covid-19 pandemic was a significant trigger for re-professionalization, both in the more traumatic sense of losing one's job and having to find another, and in the sense of altering people's views about what is reliable, what is a sure source of income. As discussed in Chapter One, the IT sector in Romania stayed relatively stable throughout the economic crisis during the pandemic, buttressing the idea that tech jobs are reliable. Zalán, DJ and former project manager at a big regional company reconsidered his aspirations of becoming a full-time entrepreneur in entertainment services during the lockdown, and instead started learning to code. When asked if he sees IT as a firm field, he half-jokingly replied "Well, yes, for quite a few more years, until I retire for sure, yes. Then let's hope AI doesn't take over" (Zalán, developer, former project manager, 26).

Besides the ironical mentions of AI taking their jobs, their precarious value chain positionality is a more tangible threat for most of my interviewees. Mechanisms of what

scholars described as capital's will to constantly relocate in search for cheap labor (e.g. Harvey 1975; Henderson 2004), or the 'footlooseness' of labor in a digital age (Huws 2014) are known to some of them. Csanád for example framed his observation and indirect worries about losing his job due to IT companies moving further away from Romania in a way that blames the flow of unskilled laborers joining the sector, 'watering down' the prestige of Cluj IT.

There are places, where they hire people, cause there's money for it, but they don't put out quality work. And this is a problem, because sooner or later if the companies get saturated with people like these... if someone says, 'an IT company from Cluj', that won't mean high quality anymore. And then they will move away. Cause, I don't know, in Bulgaria it's cheaper.

(Csanád, developer, BA in Mathematics, 33)

While both scholars (Mateescu 2022; Guga and Spatari 2021) and IT bloggers (McGrath 2016; Vijoli 2018) contemplate the future of Cluj IT, expecting its bubble to burst, only time will tell when that will happen and what it will bring to my interlocutors.

In this chapter I argued that the 'myth of the middle class' is a constituting element of the 'myth of IT', adding a consumption imaginary and a normative lifestyle as a driving force to professional reconversion to IT. Having a synergic relationship with both technological solutionism and zombie socialism, the 'myth of the middle class' is effectively forming subjectivities and providing an ideological reasoning for joining the IT sector. While being aware of their semi-peripheral positionality, the workers of the sector do reproduce the ideological discourse of having to 'catch up' to the West by putting their own context in opposition to the countries where the products they develop are being sold.

## Conclusion

The post-socialist cities are great targets for digital services outsourcing, since they can provide cheap labor without great cultural and geographical distance from Western European companies. The municipality of Cluj has been tapping into this fact, building an image of a European and 'smart' city, for the sake of being attractive for foreign direct investment. The IT sector is the poster child of both the country's and the city's government. On the one hand it is said to provide a supposedly sure way of social ascent or a way to remain within a decent socio-economic positionality for the individual, feeding the myth of the middle class. On the other hand, it symbolizes technological progress and economic and cultural connections with the West.

The transition towards a free-market economy being over, post-socialist societies are still keeping the state socialist past alive on a discursive and political level. Both the state and the city governance are withdrawing their welfare functions and instead are catering to transnational capital. On the micro level, it is still believed that 'communist mentalities' are to be eliminated. Both of these facets of zombie socialism idealize neoliberal doctrines. Drawing a parallel between labor migration and professional reconversion helps us see how ideas and ideologies get transferred alongside the wages coming from the West, and how the consumption imaginary of the workers of the sector is being shaped by the benefits they get as well as the lifestyle their corporate job allows them to have. Unpacking the myth of the middle class makes it visible that, because of their advantageous socio-economic situation, IT professionals are seen as the protagonists of the local society, setting the terms and the prices of urban life.

In Chapter One I argued that it is in the interest of IT companies, the city and the state governance to create an image of IT that is associated with socio-economic ascension to have an answer for questions about inequality, while in fact catering to the interest of transnational capital. Just like how Romania has been exporting its social contradictions through facilitating labor emigration, now outsourcing is another way to do that. Outsourcing also reinforces a dependent development model and reproduces the semi-peripheric positionality, which in turn fosters a specific kind of subjectivity that is always constituted in relation to the richer and more developed 'West'. The IT sector being a selected field for state support is most prominently exemplified by the tax exemption regarding income taxes of workers engaged in software creating activities. The arguments surrounding the tax exemption reinforce an idea of the sector that is legitimizing a dependent development model, while making IT workers 'favored subjects', engines of consumption. In addition, by coining IT professionals as exceptionally productive, they are created as the capitalist heroes bringing in Western values to the Romanian society.

In Chapter Two I introduce these ideas as, in fact, constituting elements of the neoliberal subjectivity, such as self-development, continuous reinvestment into one's human capital. What is special about the IT worker in this regard is that next to a neoliberal subjectivity, it also expected to bear the characteristics of the hacker ethic, meaning a hegemony of having fun while working, creative problem solving, and an idea of intervening on the world and on the self. What is special about converts to IT is a constant feeling of impostor syndrome, of lagging behind, thus an even stronger urge for continuous learning. On the other hand, continuous learning means continuous acceptance of conditions, resulting in an understanding of work as an enhancer of personal employability, not as a means for value creation.

In Chapter Three I contend that the myth of the middle class on the one hand implies an imaginary that sets standards for a "good life": eating out, going on vacations, going to festivals, owning a home. On the other hand, it implies a promise, that anyone who's working hard can achieve that. Both of these aspects are prevalent in the discourse surrounding IT, the professionals being one of the main targets of the city's rebranding as a caterer for the "creative"

classes" and the myth of easy entry to the field and a straight trajectory to high earning jobs serves as a discursive tool for disregarding questions about social inequality. While the consumption imagery surrounding the middle class, such as houseownership have a legitimate basis but are instrumentalized by investment capitalism. There are contradictory effects of the sector on the city that my interlocutors experience. Cluj is becoming an expensive city due to the very same logic that is promised to make it livable for the individual.

My interlocutors share an understanding of their value chain positionality, completing tasks that Westerners would not, for the same wage. They are able to lead comfortable lives on their salaries in the local context, however if they are fostering ideas about owning their housing, outsourcing is not enough for that, they have to consider changing work at a tech giant, directly. Between stability and flexibility, working in IT means a possibility for moving into the city or moving out of it, of working whenever they feel the most productive but overworking when it is expected. They find stability in their employment contracts and a secured middle-class position. However, they fear their futures being hijacked by capital's moving nature and the very same technological evolvements they help to create.

Cluj is in many regards not special. Being an outsourcing heaven, a 'smart city', or even 'the Silicon Valley' of something are not unique to it. However, the combination of neoliberal governance with anti-communist ideological undertones, and the glorification of the middle class, in the backdrop of a nation-wide migration issue makes it an interesting case of, and scale for, studying neoliberal transformations framed as technological innovation and development. Understanding what makes a developing industry more than a provider of jobs and an attractor of foreign capital, and seeing how an imaginary is being created that has very materialistic consequences is, I think, useful for other contexts as well.

To summarize my argument, through my thesis, I have shown that technological solutionism, zombie socialism and the myth of the middle class are together creating the 'myth of IT', which is forming neoliberal subjectivities and depoliticizes collective struggles.

While I do not want to create the impression that changing to IT was the 'one single' answer to all of my interlocutor's problems, it certainly has some characteristics that make it 'one possible' answer to them. Like Kinga said, this job saved her, while at the same time probably any other job would have saved her. Only there were no other options in her imaginary.

## Bibliography

- Abu-Lughod, Lila. 1991. 'Writing Against Culture'. In *Recapturing Anthropology: Working in the Present*, edited by Richard Fox, 137–62. Santa Fe: School of American Research Press.
- Ailincăi, Andreia. 2016. 'Reorientarea Şi Reconversia Profesională a Emigranților Români'. Polis. Journal of Political Science IV (11): 195–207.
- Amrute, Sareeta. 2016. *Encoding Race, Encoding Class: Indian IT Workers in Berlin*. Duke University Press. https://library.oapen.org/handle/20.500.12657/59765.
- Andras, Samuel. 2017. 'Outsourcing Destinations: Asia and Eastern Europe'. *Medium* (blog). 14 April 2017. https://medium.com/@sami.andras/outsourcing-destinations-asia-and-eastern-europe-e06b38cacf47.
- Aneesh, A. 2006. *Virtual Migration: The Programming of Globalization*. Durham, NC: Duke University Press.
- Ban, Cornel. 2016. 'Romania's Disembedded Neoliberalism'. In *Ruling Ideas: How Global Neoliberalism Goes Local*, by Cornel Ban. Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/acprof:oso/9780190600389.001.0001.
- Beltrán, Héctor. 2020. 'Code Work: Thinking with the System in México'. *American Anthropologist* 122 (3): 487–500. https://doi.org/10.1111/aman.13379.
- Berardi, Franco. 2009. *The Soul at Work: From Alienation to Autonomy*. Semiotext(e) Foreign Agents Series. Los Angeles, CA: Semiotext(e).
- Birtalan, Ágota-Aliz. 2021. 'Flexible Working Practices in the ICT Industry in Achieving Work-Life Balance'. *Studia Universitatis Babes-Bolyai Sociologia* 66 (1): 29–50. https://doi.org/10.2478/subbs-2021-0002.
- Boatcă, Manuela. 2016. *Global Inequalities Beyond Occidentalism*. 1st ed. Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315584867.
- Boc, Emil. 2017. Interview: Emil Boc, Mayor of Cluj-Napoca and former prime minister of Romania Interview by Jack Aldane. https://cities-today.com/interview-emil-boc-mayor-of-cluj-napoca-and-former-prime-minister-of-romania/.
- . 2019. Cluj-Napoca: talente, tehnologie, încredere și toleranță. https://amr.ro/index.php/2019/09/01/cluj-napoca-talente-tehnologie-incredere-sitoleranta/.
- Böröcz, József. 2012. 'Hungary in the European Union'. *Economic & Political Weekly* 47 (23): 4.
- Bourdieu, Pierre. 1989. 'Social Space and Symbolic Power'. *Sociological Theory* 7 (1): 14. https://doi.org/10.2307/202060.
- Braniște, Miki. 2022. Creativitatea-Marfă. O Perspectiva Din Interiorul Scenei Culturale Independente Clujene 2009-2019. Cluj: Idea.
- Brenner, Neil, and Nik Theodore. 2002. 'Cities and the Geographies of "Actually Existing Neoliberalism". *Antipode* 34 (3): 349–79. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8330.00246.
- Burrell, Jenna, and Marion Fourcade. 2021. 'The Society of Algorithms'. *Annual Review of Sociology* 47 (1): 213–37. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-soc-090820-020800.
- Buta, Paula Bianca. 2017. 'Reconversia profesională în IT printr-un sistem alternativ de educație'. Cluj: UNIVERSITATEA "BABEȘ-BOLYAI" CLUJ-NAPOCA.
- Căși sociale ACUM! 2021. 'The Monument of Eviction in the Smart City Where Inhabitants Miss Social Housing Căși Sociale Acum!' Press release. 20 December 2021. https://casisocialeacum.ro/archives/6683/the-monument-of-eviction-in-the-smart-city-where-inhabitants-miss-social-housing/.
- 'Câștigul Salarial Mediu Lunar'. 2022. Institutul Național de Statistică. https://insse.ro/cms/ro/content/c%C3%A2%C8%99tigul-salarial-mediu-lunar-86.

- Chelcea, Liviu. 2014. 'Work-Discipline and Temporal Structures in a Multinational Bank in Romania'. In *Neoliberalism, Personhood, and Postsocialism: Enterprising Selves in Changing Economies*, edited by Nicolette Makovicky, 37–52. Farnham, Surrey, UK: Ashgate.
- Chelcea, Liviu, and Oana Druţă. 2016. 'Zombie Socialism and the Rise of Neoliberalism in Post-Socialist Central and Eastern Europe'. *Eurasian Geography and Economics* 57 (4–5): 521–44. https://doi.org/10.1080/15387216.2016.1266273.
- Corodescu-Roșca, Ema, Abdelillah Hamdouch, and Corneliu Iaţu. 2023. 'Innovation in Urban Governance and Economic Resilience. The Case of Two Romanian Regional Metropolises: Timișoara and Cluj Napoca'. *Cities* 132 (January): 104090. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cities.2022.104090.
- Crăciun, Magdalena, and Ștefan Lipan. 2020. 'Introduction: The Middle Class in Post-Socialist Europe: Ethnographies of Its "Good Life". *East European Politics and Societies: And Cultures* 34 (2): 423–40. https://doi.org/10.1177/0888325420902509.
- Deakin, Mark, ed. 2013. Smart Cities: Governing, Modelling, and Analysing the Transition. Abingdon, Oxon: Routledge.
- Dunn, Elizabeth C. 2004. *Privatizing Poland: Baby Food, Big Business, and the Remaking of Labor*. Cornell University Press.
- Durst, Judit, and Ákos Huszár. 2022. 'Individual Success, Collective Failure?: The Process and Consequences of Social (Im)Mobility in Neo-Liberal Times'. *Intersections* 8 (2): 1–11. https://doi.org/10.17356/ieejsp.v8i2.1046.
- Dyer-Witheford, Nick. 2015. *Cyber-Proletariat: Global Labour in the Digital Vortex*. Between the lines.
- Éber, Márk Áron. 2020. *A Csepp: A Félperifériás Magyar Társadalom Osztályszerkezete*. Budapest: Napvilág Kiadó.
- Ferenčuhová, Slavomíra, and Michael Gentile. 2016. 'Introduction: Post-Socialist Cities and Urban Theory'. *Eurasian Geography and Economics* 57 (4–5): 483–96. https://doi.org/10.1080/15387216.2016.1270615.
- Florida, Richard. 2002. 'The Rise of the Creative Class'. *Washington Monthly*, 1 May 2002. http://washingtonmonthly.com/2002/05/01/the-rise-of-the-creative-class/.
- Form, William H., and Delbert C. Miller. 1949. 'Occupational Career Pattern as a Sociological Instrument'. *American Journal of Sociology* 54 (4): 317–29. https://doi.org/10.1086/220368.
- Foucault, Michel. 1986. 'Of Other Spaces'. Translated by Jay Miskowiec. *Diacritics* 16 (1): 22–27. https://doi.org/10.2307/464648.
- Giddens, Anthony. 1991. *Modernity and Self-Identity: Self and Society in the Late Modern Age.* Stanford University Press.
- Giffinger, R., H. Kramar, G. Haindlmaier, and F. Strohmayer. 2015. 'European Smart Cities 4.0 (2015)'. 2015. https://www.smart-cities.eu/index.php?cid=6&ver=4&city=194.
- Graham, Steve, and Simon Marvin. 2002. *Splintering Urbanism: Networked Infrastructures, Technological Mobilities and the Urban Condition*. 1st ed. London: Taylor and Francis.
- Greenhaus, J. H., G. A. Callanan, and M. DiRenzo. 2008. 'A Boundaryless Perspective on Careers'. In *The SAGE Handbook of Organizational Behavior*, by Cary L. Cooper and Julian Barling, Volume 1-Micro Approaches:277–99. London: Sage. http://digital.casalini.it/9781446206614.
- Guga, Stefan, and Marcel Spatari. 2021. 'The Exception That Proves the Rule: Evolutions in Romanian IT'. Bucharest: Friedrich Ebert Stiftung.
- Harvey, David. 1975. 'The Geography of Capitalist Accumulation: A Reconstruction of the Marxian Theory\*'. *Antipode* 7 (2): 9–21. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8330.1975.tb00616.x.

- ——. 1989. The Condition of Postmodernity: An Enquiry into the Origins of Cultural Change. Oxford [England]; Cambridge, Mass., USA: Blackwell.
- ———. 2007. 'Neoliberalism as Creative Destruction'. *The Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science* 610: 22–44.
- Henderson, George L. 2004. 'Value: The Many-Headed Hydra'. *Antipode* 36 (3): 445–60. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8330.2004.00424.x.
- Herman, Ron. 2011. 'Quick Guide to Romania IT and Software Industry'. *TeamFound* (blog). 19 July 2011. https://teamfound.com/quick-guide-to-romania-it-and-software-industry/.
- Himanen, Pekka. 2001. *The Hacker Ethic, and the Spirit of the Information Age*. 1st ed. New York, NY: Random House.
- Ho, Karen Zouwen. 2009. Liquidated: An Ethnography of Wall Street. Durham: Duke University Press.
- Hosu, Ramona, and Ioan Hosu. 2019. "'Smart'' in Between People and the City'. *Transylvanian Review of Administrative Sciences* 15 (SI): 5–20. https://doi.org/10.24193/tras.SI2019.1.
- Huws, Ursula. 2014. *Labor in the Global Digital Economy: The Cybertariat Comes of Age.* New York: Monthly Review Press.
- Ionescu-Heroiu, Marcel, Marina Neagu, Sebastian Burduja, Dumitru Sandu, Ciprian Moldovan, Titus Man, and Raularian Rusu. 2013. *Growth Poles. The Next Phase*.
- Irani, Lilly. 2019. Chasing Innovation: Making Entrepreneurial Citizens in Modern India. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.
- Jasanoff, Sheila. 2015. 'Future Imperfect: Science, Technology, and the Imaginations of Modernity'. In *Dreamscapes of Modernity: Sociotechnical Imaginaries and the Fabrication of Power*, edited by Sang-Hyun Kim and Sheila Jasanoff. University of Chicago Press. https://doi.org/10.7208/chicago/9780226276663.001.0001.
- Joseph, Damien, Wai Fong Boh, Soon Ang, and Sandra A. Slaughter. 2012. 'The Career Paths Less (or More) Traveled: A Sequence Analysis of IT Career Histories, Mobility Patterns, and Career Success'. *MIS Quarterly* 36 (2): 427–52. https://doi.org/10.2307/41703462.
- Kalleberg, Arne L., and Ted Mouw. 2018. 'Occupations, Organizations, and Intragenerational Career Mobility'. *Annual Review of Sociology* 44 (1): 283–303. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-soc-073117-041249.
- Kasmir, Sharryn. 2001. "Corporation, Self, and Enterprise at the Saturn Automobile Plant". *Anthropology of Work Review* 22 (4): 8–12. https://doi.org/10.1525/awr.2001.22.4.8.
- Kelly, Bridget. 2020. "So That's How Life Abroad Made Me Look at Things Differently": Transylvanian Villagers and the Domestication of European Development'. Budapest: Central European University.
- Kofti, Dimitra. 2016. "Communists" on the Shop Floor'. *Focaal* 2016 (74): 69–82. https://doi.org/10.3167/fcl.2016.740106.
- Levitt, Peggy. 1998. 'Social Remittances: Migration Driven Local-Level Forms of Cultural Diffusion'. *The International Migration Review* 32 (4): 926–48. https://doi.org/10.2307/2547666.
- 'Lista Firmelor Din România'. 2021. ListaFirme. 2021. https://www.listafirme.ro/.
- Malazita, James W., and Korryn Resetar. 2019. 'Infrastructures of Abstraction: How Computer Science Education Produces Anti-Political Subjects'. *Digital Creativity* 30 (4): 300–312. https://doi.org/10.1080/14626268.2019.1682616.
- Manolova, Polina. 2020. 'Aspiring, Ambivalent, Assertive: Bulgarian Middle-Class Subjectivities and Boundary Work through Migration'. *East European Politics and Societies* 34 (2): 505–28. https://doi.org/10.1177/0888325419837349.

- Mateescu, Oana. 2022. 'In the Romanian Bubble of Outsourced Creativity'. In *The Routledge Handbook of the Anthropology of Labor*, by Sharryn Kasmir and Lesley Gill, 1st ed., 243–55. London: Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781003158448-24.
- McElroy, Erin. 2020. 'Digital Nomads in Siliconising Cluj: Material and Allegorical Double Dispossession'. *Urban Studies* 57 (15): 3078–94. https://doi.org/10.1177/0042098019847448.
- McGrath, Stephen. 2016. 'Romania's Silicon Valley Has An Innovation Problem'. *Forbes* (blog). 2016. https://www.forbes.com/sites/stephenmcgrath/2016/05/26/romanias-silicon-valley-has-an-innovation-problem/.
- McNay, Lois. 2009. 'Self as Enterprise: Dilemmas of Control and Resistance in Foucault's The Birth of Biopolitics'. *Theory, Culture & Society* 26 (6): 55–77. https://doi.org/10.1177/0263276409347697.
- Mears, Ashley. 2021. Very Important People: Status and Beauty in the Global Party Circuit. First Paperback. Princeton: Princeton University Press.
- Mihály, Zoltán. 2015. 'The Making of Cheap Labour Power: Nokia's Case in Cluj'. *Studia Universitatis Babes-Bolyai Sociologia* 6 (1): 63–81. https://doi.org/10.1515/subbs-2015-0003.
- Milanovic, Branko. 2011. Global Inequality: From Class to Location, from Proletarians to Migrants. Policy Research Working Papers. The World Bank. https://doi.org/10.1596/1813-9450-5820.
- Misra, Joya, and Kyla Walters. 2016. 'All Fun and Cool Clothes? Youth Workers' Consumer Identity in Clothing Retail'. *Work and Occupations* 43 (3): 294–325. https://doi.org/10.1177/0730888416644949.
- Moore, Henrietta L. 2004. 'Global Anxieties: Concept-Metaphors and Pre-Theoretical Commitments in Anthropology'. *Anthropological Theory* 4 (1): 71–88. https://doi.org/10.1177/1463499604040848.
- Morozov, Evgeny. 2013. To Save Everything, Click Here: The Folly of Technological Solutionism. First edition. New York: PublicAffairs.
- Mosco, Vincent. 2019. *The Smart City in a Digital World*. SocietyNow. Bingley: Emerald Publishing.
- Neal, Derek. 1999. 'The Complexity of Job Mobility among Young Men'. *Journal of Labor Economics* 17 (2): 237–61. https://doi.org/10.1086/209919.
- Németh, Krisztina. 2022. 'Cosmopolitans in a Farmhouse: Return Migration and the Adaptation of Habitus through the Lens of a Homemaking Process'. *Intersections* 8 (2): 100–119. https://doi.org/10.17356/ieejsp.v8i2.840.
- Ong, Aihwa. 2007. 'Neoliberalism as a Mobile Technology'. *Transactions of the Institute of British Geographers* 32 (1): 3–8.
- Ortner, Sherry B. 2006. *Anthropology and Social Theory*. Duke University Press. https://doi.org/10.2307/j.ctv11hppcg.
- Ost, David. 2015. 'Stuck in the Past and the Future: Class Analysis in Postcommunist Poland'. *East European Politics and Societies: And Cultures* 29 (3): 610–24. https://doi.org/10.1177/0888325415602058.
- Petrovici, Norbert. 2012. 'Workers and the City: Rethinking the Geographies of Power in Post-Socialist Urbanisation'. *Urban Studies* 49 (11): 2377–97. https://doi.org/10.1177/0042098011428175.
- Petrovici, Norbert, and Neda Deneva-Faje. 2020. 'Depoliticizing the Firm: Revisiting Employability as a Strategy and a Narrative for High-Skilled and Skilled Workers in an Eastern European City'. *Studia Universitatis Babes-Bolyai Sociologia* 65 (2): 55–76. https://doi.org/10.2478/subbs-2020-0008.

- Petrovici, Norbert, and Florin Faje. 2019. 'Revanşă Fără Revanşism: Cafenelele Clasei de Mijloc Din Cluj'. In *Hipsteri, Bobos Şi Clase Creative*, edited by Ciprian State and Dinu Gutu, Ediția I. C(Art)Ier. Chișinău: Cartier.
- Petrovici, Norbert, and Codruţa Mare. 2020. 'Economia Clujului'. Centrul Interdisciplinar pentru Știința Datelor Universitatea Babeș-Bolyai.
- Popescu, Bogdan. 2023. 'De la vase de croazieră la IT: Elena Minkov, Business Analyst, despre un nou început, la 39 de ani'. 2023. https://youtu.be/Qg22uUaxftM.
- Preda, Bianca. 2022. 'Primarul Emil Boc: "Slujbele Bine Plătite Vin Din IT. Calea Spre Un Salariu Mai Bun Este Educația. Dintr-Un Oraș Gri, Rămas În Urmă, Clujul e Primul După Capitală". *Monitorulcj.Ro*, 7 September 2022. http://www.monitorulcj.ro/economie/102309-emil-boc-slujbele-bine-platite-vin-din-it-dintr-un-oras-gri-ramas-in-urma-astazi-clujul-e-primul-dupa-capitala.
- Pugh, Allison J. 2015. *The Tumbleweed Society: Working and Caring in an Age of Insecurity*. Oxford University Press.
- Reștea, Kristina. 2022. 'Boc, din "capitala IT" de la Cluj, despre eliminarea facilităților fiscale în domeniu: Autoritățile din România nu ar trebui să se "atingă" vreme de 20 de ani de domeniul tehnologiei'. Economedia.ro. 25 May 2022. https://economedia.ro/boc-din-capitala-it-de-la-cluj-despre-eliminarea-facilitatilor-fiscale-in-domeniu-autoritatile-din-romania-nu-ar-trebui-sa-se-atinga-vreme-de-20-de-ani-de-domeniul-tehnologiei.html.
- Roman, Mihai. 2023. 'Un raport al Băncii Mondiale finanțat din PNRR pentru Guvern recomandă introducerea cotei progresive de impozitare, eliminarea scutirilor pentru IT-iști și construcții, creșterea impozitului pe dividende, creșterea impozitelor pe proprietate, creșterea impozitării microîntreprinderilor'. Economedia.ro. 26 April 2023. https://economedia.ro/exclusiv-un-raport-al-bancii-mondiale-finantat-din-pnrr-pentruguvern-recomanda-introducerea-cotei-progresive-de-impozitare-eliminarea-scutirilor-pentru-it-isti-si-construcții-cresterea-impozitului.html.
- Rose, Nikolas. 1992. 'Governing the Enterprising Self'. In *The Values of the Enterprise Culture: The Moral Debate*, edited by Paul Heelas and Paul M. Morris, 141–64. Routledge.
- ——. 1998. *Inventing Our Selves: Psychology, Power, and Personhood*. Cambridge University Press.
- Sadowski, Jathan, and Roy Bendor. 2019. 'Selling Smartness: Corporate Narratives and the Smart City as a Sociotechnical Imaginary'. *Science, Technology, & Human Values* 44 (3): 540–63. https://doi.org/10.1177/0162243918806061.
- Sassen, Saskia. 2007. "The Impact of the New Technologies and Globalization on Cities". In *The City Reader, Fourth Edition*, edited by Richard T. LeGates and Frederic Stout, 4th ed, 197–205. London: Routledge.
- Simionca, Anca. 2012. 'Neoliberal Managerialism, Anti-Communist Dogma and the Critical Employee in Contemporary Romania'. *Studia Universitatis Babes-Bolyai-Sociologia* 57 (1): 123–49.
- ——. 2016. 'Personal and Spiritual Development in Contemporary Romania: In Search of Ambivalence'. *Studia Universitatis Babes-Bolyai Sociologia* 61 (2): 11–25.
- 'Strategia de Transformare Digitală a Municipiului Cluj-Napoca'. 2021. Facultatea de Științe Politice, Administrative și ale Comunicării. https://files.primariaclujnapoca.ro/2022/02/03/Strategia-de-transformare-digitala-web.pdf.
- Szabó, Natasa. 2016. 'New Spirit and New Hero: How Hungarian Startups Redefine the Ideas of Local Capitalism'. *Studia Universitatis Babes-Bolyai Sociologia* 61 (2): 27–48. https://doi.org/10.1515/subbs-2016-0009.

- Székely, Örs. 2020. '"A Profit Építőtelepei" Kolozsvár Átalakulásáról, Első Kézből'. *Https://Www.Epiteszforum.Hu*, 8 December 2020. https://epiteszforum.hu/a-profit-epitotelepei--kolozsvar-atalakulasarol-elso-kezbol.
- Țichindeleanu, Ovidiu. 2019. 'O Re-Educație Estetică: Orașul Creativ Și Ruinele Capitaliste'. In *Hipsteri, Bobos Și Clase Creative*, edited by Ciprian State and Dinu Guțu, Ediția I. C(Art)Ier. Chișinău: Cartier.
- Troc, Gabriel. 2019. 'Suburbanisation and Middle Class Imaginaires in the Post-Socialist City. A Romanian Case Study'. *Studia Universitatis Babes-Bolyai Sociologia* 64 (1): 89–108. https://doi.org/10.2478/subbs-2019-0004.
- Udișteanu, Andrei, and Alex Varninschi, dirs. 2022. *IT-ul și clujenii. Industria care a transformat un oraș*. https://recorder.ro/it-ul-si-clujenii-industria-care-a-transformat-un-oras/.
- Upadhya, Carol. 2016. *Reengineering India: Work, Capital, and Class in an Offshore Economy*. Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/acprof:oso/9780199461486.001.0001.
- Vallas, Steven, and Juliet B. Schor. 2020. 'What Do Platforms Do? Understanding the Gig Economy'. *Annual Review of Sociology* 46 (1): 273–94. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-soc-121919-054857.
- Vijoli, Irina. 2018. 'Industria IT Din România La Răscruce. Perspectiva IT-Ului Românesc În Lumini Şi Umbre'. Inaco. 2018. https://inaco.ro/industria-it-din-romania-la-rascruce-perspectiva-it-ului-romanesc-in-lumini-si-umbre/.
- Vincze, Enikő, Hajnalka Harbula, Attila Seprődi, and Péter Máthé. 2019. Şantier În Lucru Pentru Profit: Redezvoltare Urbană În Cluj: Zona Ploiești- Someșului-Anton Pann-Abator-Parcul Feroviarilor. Cluj: Editura Fundației Desire.
- Vincze, Enikő, and Alex Liță. 2021. *Muncă Şi Locuire. Salarii Şi Costurile Locuirii În Pandemie La Cluj*. Cluj: Editura Fundației Desire.
- Vincze, Enikő, Norbert Petrovici, Cristina Raţ, and Giovanni Picker, eds. 2019. *Racialized Labour in Romania: Spaces of Marginality at the Periphery of Global Capitalism*. Cham: Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-76273-9.
- Vora, Kalindi. 2015. *Life Support: Biocapital and the New History of Outsourced Labor*. U of Minnesota Press.
- Weiss, Hadas. 2019. We Have Never Been Middle Class: How Social Mobility Misleads Us. Verso Books.
- Willis, Paul. 1981. 'Cultural Production Is Different from Cultural Reproduction Is Different from Social Reproduction Is Different from Reproduction'. *Interchange* 12 (2): 48–67. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01192107.
- Zamfir, George Iulian. 2022. 'Countering Housing Dispossession in Cluj, the Silicon Valley of Eastern Europe'. *Lefteast* (blog). 20 June 2022. https://lefteast.org/countering-housing-dispossession-in-cluj-the-silicon-valley-of-eastern-europe/.
- Zincă, Irina. 2011. 'Grounding Global Capitalism in Cluj-Napoca, Romania. on Territorialization and the Question of Agency'. *Studia Universitatis Babes-Bolyai Sociologia* 56 (2): 139–56.